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Below is the structure chart of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at

31 March 2017:

MUTR/RKRELERRRS ARSI RAKWBAS( AEE )N2017F3831H 2 2EHE -

SIIC Medical Science and
Technology (Group) Limited

Tianda Group Limited (Tianda Group)

Public Shareholders

PEEERERR AREBERAR(RAKE) N TS
(&E) ARAIF
3 o I\ =
N XXEZFRAT
Y TIANDA PHARMAGEUTICALS LIMITED
(Stock code: 00455)
(B3 5% + 00455)
Tianda Chinese Yunyu Bio-Phammaceutical Co., Limited
Medl:,:\ine L;n)med Tianda Phar(n’iafe;t)\cals Limited = BB R A
lote (Vote 2) (Note 2)
(MEE2) (HizE2) (HtzE2)
\. J
100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 55%

( h Tianda Pharmaceuticals Yunnan Meng Sheng )
Tianda Chinese l(KA;.ftE‘fL.Ptﬁyl;t‘? a5) Tianda Biotech Limited Tla':d: Plila;mafe';l_t‘\cgls Tianda Realty Limited ; \and;nH;a ‘L"r: .imz Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.*
Medicine Limited ATV e KA (Hong Kong) Limite (Note 2) vestment Limite TR A B AR AT

FAh B EEA R AT BIRAF BB RAFEE (H32) (Note 2) Noto &
BRRARR (Note 1) o (BB BBRAT ) GED) Boes)
\_ Y, (BaE1) (FIE4) )
99.9% 0.10% 100% 100%
&:;:;gm:ﬁ; Z Tianda Pharmaceuticals
Sociedade De Medicina (China) L'd,'* Tanda Rea_lty_
Chinesa Tinada Limitada n EF %ﬂ = (Hong Kongx) im'wd
RAFEHARAT R o
(Note 3) (Note 4) (BH)BRRA
(Hi53) (Ffixa)
(HIEE3) . _
100% 100%
e —\
Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) Ltd.* Zhuhai Tianda Realty Ltd.*
RREE(KE) KERABEXERAA
ARAT (Note 4)
(Note 4) G
(GED
Notes Bff 5t
(1) Incorporated in Australia with limited liability

HORKF MM Z HIRAE]

(2) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability
REBETAESIMALZERAS

(3) Incorporated in Macau with limited liability

HORFI AN 2 RN E)

(4) Incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
R B F MRz FRAT
* For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A

RESULTS
Year ended 31 March
HEIAMBILLEE
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TETT T#&TT THETT FHET FHET
Revenue ISP 281,995 247173 139,367 192,785 195,539
Profit (loss) before tax B % B 5 A
(E18) 83,359 64,426 (24,261) 18,425 32,750
Income tax (expense) credit TS F( T Hi )
LN (15,663) (15,477) 1,245 (5,058) (7,997)
Profit (loss) for the year 2K GF i S A
(EH8) 67,696 48,949 (23,016) 13,367 24,753
Profit (loss) attributable to: 31 ( E538 )
BB
Owners of the Company KNS HRR 37,740 22,049 (17,942) 6,569 12,442
Non-controlling interests R R = 29,956 26,900 (5,074) 6,798 12,311
67,696 48,949 (23,016) 13,367 24,753
HK cents HK cents HK cent HK cent HK cent
A A B A =311
Earnings (loss) per share BEAEN(ER) 2.02 1.18 (0.96) 0.32 0.58
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
LEERBE
At 31 March
R3A3MH
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
TFHETT FHETT THETT THETT F# T
Total assets BEEHE 917,757 932,490 921,017 956,169 904,120
Total liabilities & 5 (142,557)  (117,429)  (132,609)  (109,436) (91,156)
775,200 815,061 788,408 846,733 812,964
Equity attributable to owners 7 /A 5] iz &
of the Company E{L#E & 737,995 751,146 729,344 813,748 778,322
Non-controlling interests JER R &R 37,205 63,915 59,064 32,985 34,642
775,200 815,061 788,408 846,733 812,964
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EREE TS

REVENUE g A BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE &R E A
HK$000 T8 7t HK CENTS 7&fll ER(EHE)
2017 195,539 2017 0.58

2016 192,785 2016 0.32

2015 139,367 2015 (0.96)

PROFIT (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE 252 B1f& R EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS Z< /2 ] JR &
TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY  FE {53357 (B518) OF THE COMPANY PE{LRE SR
HK$'000 T8 7T HK$'000 F7& 7T

1,075

(1,403)

N One-off items (Note)

—RIEIE B (FFE)

n Ordinary profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company
AR TR AR 3R A (&5 18)

Note:  One off items for 2015 represented the loss on plant and machinery written off while the one-off items for 2017 represent the impairment loss on
goodwill and intangible assets (net off the reversal of deferred tax liabilities) and fair value gain on derecognition of investments in redeemable
convertible preference shares.

Bfat . 2056z —RMETE B ARG RS MSHES1E  M207TE 2 —AMEBE AN ERELEEREBE( HRIRLERES EEE)
MR ERRENRTEL TRRBER AR BE RS o

BT



S EEEEElS

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, aged 48, has been appointed as
an executive Director since 6 October 2003. Mr. Fang was also
appointed as Managing Director of the Company on 1 February 2017.
He is currently Chairman, Managing Director, the chairman of the
nomination committee and members of the remuneration committee
and the risk management committee of the Company, and directors
of the Group’s certain subsidiaries. Mr. Fang acted simultaneously
as Managing Director during the period from 1 September 2008 to 3
August 2015. Mr. Fang is the founder, chairman and beneficial owner
of Tianda Group (the controlling shareholder of the Company holding
1,194,971,370 Shares). Mr. Fang is the existing chairman of the board
of directors, general manager and authorised representative of Tianda
Culture Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations Systems, Company Code: 837889). He has
ample experience in corporate strategy and management. He studied
International Relations in the University of Sydney and Tsinghua
University, and established a non-profit strategic studies think tank
called “Tianda Institute”. Upholding the mission of “Care for a Better
World”, Mr. Fang always shows his commitment to community services,
including donations to poverties, education and talents development,
healthcare, scientific research, environmental protection, culture and
arts.

Mr. Lui Man Sang, aged 53, was appointed as an executive
Director in 2013 and directors of the Group’s certain subsidiaries.
Mr. Lui joined Tianda Group, the controlling shareholder of the
Company in 2007 and is a deputy general manager of Tianda Group.
He is responsible for the financial issues of Tianda Group and the
Company. Mr. Lui is a director of Tianda Culture Holdings (China)
Limited* (listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations
Systems, Company Code: 837889). Mr. Lui possesses enriched
financial management experience covering a variety of industries
including auditing in one of the big four accounting firms in Hong
Kong and overseeing the finance department of a Hong Kong listed
company. He holds an Executive MBA granted by City University of
Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. Shen Bo, aged 44, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and a member of the audit committee of the Company on
10 August 2015. He is a certified public accountant of the People’s
Republic of China. He received his bachelor degree majoring in
accounting from Shanghai Institute of Construction Materials Industry
and master of accountancy from Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Shen is an executive director, a vice president and the chief
financial officer of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.*
(a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code
601607, and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, with stock code 2607), the chairman of Changzhou
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals
Holding Co., Ltd), the chairman of Xiamen Traditional Chinese Medicine
Co., Ltd (a subsidiary of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd)
and the chairman of Shanghai Hefeng Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.
(a joint venture of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd and
Ho Ming Company (Hong Kong) Limited) and an executive director
of China International Pharmaceutical (Holding) Corporation Limited
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding
Co., Ltd. established in Hong Kong). Mr. Shen is a non-executive
director of Shanghai Fudan-Zhangjiang Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*
(a company listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code 1349).
Mr. Shen served as manager of finance department and chief financial
officer in several large companies in mainland China so has extensive
experience in corporate management, financial control, and governance
of pharmaceutical companies. From April 2001 to March 2010, Mr. Shen
served as the head of financial planning department, general manager
of finance department and chief financial officer in Shanghai Industrial
Pharmaceutical Investment Co, Ltd.* (a company formerly listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 600607). During the
same period, Mr. Shen also served as the general manager of finance
department of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals (Group) Co., Ltd.

Mr. Feng Quanming, aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 23 March 2016. Mr. Feng is the deputy head of the finance
department and the secretary of the Communist Party’s sub-division
committee in the finance department of Hongta Tabacco (Group)
Limited (Hongta), which holds 9.65% equity interest in the Company.
He has extensive experience in corporate financial accounting and
asset management. Mr. Feng joined Hongta in July 2001. During the
period from August 2007 to September 2014, he took various positions
in the finance department of Hongta, including deputy head of industrial
finance division, head and deputy head of asset management division
and head of general management division. He was also the head
of financial planning division of Yunnan Hongta Group Co., Ltd*, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Hongta, during the period from June 2013
to August 2014. Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor degree in accounting
at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in 2001 and
master in business administration at Renmin University of China in
2009. Mr. Feng possesses the qualification of practising certified public
accountant in mainland China.

*  For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. Shi Shaobin, aged 49 was appointed as an executive
Director on 13 March 2015 and the Managing Director from the
period of 3 August 2015 to 31 January 2017. Mr. Shi has been
re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive Director
with effect from 1 February 2017. He received his bachelor degree
in biochemistry from Sun Yat-sen University and master degree in
business administration and doctoral degree in enterprise management
from Sun Yat-sen Business School. He also holds the senior engineer
qualification. He has worked as director and senior management in
several large organisations in the PRC and Hong Kong, and possesses
extensive experience in management, marketing and governance in
pharmaceutical industry. Mr. Shi served as chairman of Guangzhou
Pearl River Piano Group Co., Ltd, a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002678) which his resignation was on 22
March 2014. Mr. Shi also serves in numerous public bodies including
representative of the Twelfth of Guangdong Provincial People’s
Congress, executive director of Guangdong Province Traditional
Chinese Medicine Association*, director of Chinese Medical Association
and vice president of Guangdong Province Young Entrepreneurs’
Association*.

Mr. Lam Yat Fai, aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee
and a member of audit committee of the Company in 2004. On 26
November 2013, he was appointed as the chairman of the audit
committee. He was appointed as a member of nomination committee
and risk management committee on 22 July 2009. He is a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising). He is also a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lam worked
with Kwan Wong Tan & Fong and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for
over 10 years. Mr. Lam has over 27 years of experience in auditing,
taxation, corporate finance and accounting. Mr. Lam is an independent
non-executive director of Oriental Press Group Limited, which is listed
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
0018).

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, aged 70, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company with effect from 10 April 2008. Mr. Chiu ceased to act as
the chairman of the audit committee and remained as a member of
the committee on 26 November 2013. Mr. Chiu was appointed as the
chairman of risk management committee on 22 July 2009. On 1 April
2012, he was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee. He received an LL.B.
degree from the University of Sydney. He is admitted as a solicitor
of the Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court of
Australia. He has over 30 years of experience in legal practice. Mr. Chiu
is the founding member of the Board of Trustees of the Australian
Nursing Home Foundation and served as the General Secretary of
Australian Chinese Community Association of New South Wales.
Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of CNOOC Limited,
which is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 0883) and Bank of China (Australia) Limited.

Mr. Chiu Fan Wa, aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee
and audit committee of the Company on 31 March 2009. Mr. Chiu is
a founder and the managing director of Chiu, Choy & Chung C.P.A.
Limited, and a partner of F.S. Li & Co. He graduated from City
University of Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours)
degree with major in accountancy in 1992 and was awarded a
Master of Professional Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2002. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in
Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a fellow member of the Institute of the Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, a fellow member of The Society
of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, an associate of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, United Kingdom, a fellow
member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a Certified Tax
Advisor. Mr. Chiu is also an independent non-executive director of
Kenford Group Holdings Limited, which is listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 0464).
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERIE

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | am
delighted to present the annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as Tianda Pharmaceuticals or the
Group) for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the Current Financial Year/
FYE 2017) for shareholders’ review.

The overall performance of the Group was encouraging
with steady growth during the year. Total revenue for FYE 2017
of HK$195,500,000 was recorded, increased by 1.4% from
HK$192,800,000 compared to the year ended 31 March 2016 (Last
Corresponding Period). Profit attributable to the owners of the
Company for FYE 2017 was HK$12,400,000, representing a significant
increase of 89.4% from HK$6,600,000 in the Last Corresponding
Period. The Group declared a final dividend of HK0.57 cent per share
(2016: HKO0.27 cent), representing a substantial growth of 111% to
approximately HK$12,300,000.

Leveraging on its patented, first generic drug Cerebroprotein
Hydrolysate Injections, Tianda Pharmaceuticals has differentiated its
brand and increased its tender success rate effectively. In addition to
enhancing domestic performance, the Group expanded its presence
into international markets such as India to create new growth driver.
Paediatric drugs were listed in the Women and Children’s Specialty
Catalogue of China which are connected to direct online sourcing and
pricing network. Capitalising on the opportunity, the Group restructured
its sales strategy to increase its market share. Furthermore, expanding
its penetration in OTC channels and overall sales performance, the
Group has been targeting on OTC markets with solid brand attachments
to Tuoen (Ibuprofen series) and Tuoping (Valsartan series).
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERIE

In 2017, maintaining its strong momentum on overall sales
performance is one of the key objectives. In addition, the Group will
collaborate effectively with Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Group, the
second largest shareholder of the Group, to optimise its product mix.
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (China) will establish healthcare product
business unit to further develop and market Herb Valley healthcare
products and Super Manuka Honey. Also, Qi-Shangzhen oral solution
of new notoginseng (sangi) series was successfully launched in the
market with promising outlook. The Group believes it will be a new
growth driver. Furthermore, construction and development of new R&D
and production base of Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) has been
undergone and target completion will be by end of 2019. The Group
believes that product portfolio will be further diversified which will lay
a solid foundation for core competitiveness and sustainability in the
industry.

After comprehensive research and analysis, the Group is
determined to tap into Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) sector.
An integrated supply chain of TCM will be developed through merger
and acquisitions as well as investment and establishment. To begin
with Chinese herbs planting, manufacturing of TCM decoction pieces,
granules and formulae as its business foundation, then set up Tianda
Mall, featured TCM medical centre to provide TCM healthcare
solutions, and followed with TCM intelligence platform to offer online
medical services from an intelligentised TCM pharmacy. Meanwhile,
the Group is dedicated to invest in R&D and novelty generic drugs,
as well as seize investment opportunities in developing medical
services in a timely manner. Its goal is to evolve into an integrated
medic-pharmaceuticals enterprise.

Looking forward, Tianda Pharmaceuticals will progressively exert
its best efforts to build a better future and forge ahead like an energetic
young rooster in the Year of Rooster.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our clients, staff, business partners and shareholders for their
unremitting confidence in and support for the Group. | would also like
to thank the Board of Directors for their efforts and contributions to the
Group’s expeditious business growth.

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2017
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R S T

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the financial year ended 31 March 2017 (the Current
Financial Year/FYE2017), the Group recorded a consolidated revenue
of HK$195,500,000 from its core business, representing a year-on-year
increase of 1.4% as compared with HK$192,800,000 for the financial
year ended 31 March 2016 (the FYE2016). Gross profit increased by
8.4% from HK$110,700,000 for FYE2016 to HK$120,000,000. Gross
profit margin increased substantially from 57.4% for FYE2016 by 4.0
percent points to 61.4%.

Sales revenue of Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical increased by
18.7% from HK$65,500,000 for FYE2016 to HK$77,800,000 for the
Current Financial Year. If the impact of Renminbi (RMB) depreciation
was excluded, the sales revenue should have been increased by
26.3%. Sales revenue from its flagship product, namely Cerebroprotein
Hydrolysate Injection, increased from HK$57,600,000 for FYE2016 to
HK$67,400,000 for the Current Financial Year. Gross profit margin of
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical rose from 65.9% for FYE2016 to 72.5% for
the Current Financial Year.

Sales revenue of Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) decreased
by 6.7% from HK$123,900,000 for FYE2016 to HK$115,600,000 for
FYE2017. During the Current Financial Year, RMB depreciated against
Hong Kong dollar by more than 6%. As a result, the sales amount
would be directly affected by RMB depreciation when it was translated
into Hong Kong dollar, the presentation currency of the Company. If
the impact of RMB depreciation was excluded, it should have been
decreased by 0.8% only. Given the implementation of effective cost
control measures, the gross profit margin of Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) increased from 65.5% for FYE2016 to 66.7% for the Current
Financial Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R S T

The Group conducted its business development in a prudent way
due to the intense competition in the market of healthcare products
which resulted in a decrease in sales revenue of healthcare products
under the Herb Valley brand series from HK$3,200,000 for FYE2016 to
HK$2,100,000 for FYE2017. As the performance of healthcare product
business was lower than expectation, the Group had to recognise
an impairment loss for goodwill and intangible assets amounted to
HK$2,100,000 and HK$4,300,000 respectively for healthcare product
business, net of the reversal of those deferred tax liabilities related
to those intangible assets of HK$1,300,000, resulting in a net loss of
HK$5,100,000 which was charged to profit or loss. The impairment
loss and deferred taxation are an accounting related adjustments and
non-cash in nature, thus having no material and adverse impact on the
financial position and operation of the Group.

As the Group strived for cost saving by means of efficiency
and effectiveness enhancement, selling and distribution expenses
decreased by 3.4% from HK$51,100,000 for FYE2016 to
HK$49,400,000 for the Current Financial Year; while administrative
expenses were maintained at a level similar to that of FYE2016.

The Group invested in ASLAN Pharmaceuticals Limited (ASLAN),
a Singapore company engaged in new drug R&D, towards the end of
2015. ASLAN is principally engaged in the development of a portfolio
of immunotherapies and targeted anti-tumour drugs focusing on Asia
prevalent tumour types. During the Current Financial Year, a fair
value gain of approximately HK$6,200,000 was recorded when the
redeemable convertible preference shares in ASLAN were converted
into ordinary shares.

As a whole, the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company
significantly increased by 89% to HK$12,400,000 for the Current
Financial Year, equivalent to basic earnings per share of HK0.58 cent,
as compared to profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$6,600,000 for FYE2016, equivalent to earnings per share of HK0.32
cent. The Group maintained a stable and strong financial position
accordingly. As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s bank deposits, bank
balances and cash amounted to HK$399,300,000, without record of
external borrowings. Current ratio and quick ratio improved from 6.39
and 5.84 as at 31 March 2016 to 7.53 and 6.97 as at 31 March 2017
respectively.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B R S T

BUSINESS REVIEW ¥ 7Ol EE

Under the annual corporate direction, “Efficiency and

AEBEYERR FEEETE

Effectiveness’, the Group has continued to strengthen its core WEIET BEBEEZAH FX FE
competiveness in accordance to the principle of innovation and ERGBERPEERR REPBEE
professionalism. Aligning with the favourable Chinese medicine policies ¥ ZNRHEZ EE N E LR o

and strategies of the PRC government, the Group is investing in the
Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) business to bring its breadth of
products and services to a new height.

. 9 drugs of the Group including Valsartan Capsules and .
Ibuprofen Suspension were listed in the “2017 Medicine List for
National Basic Medical Insurance” of China.

. Primary products of Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical are .
Cerebroprotein Hydrolysate Injection, Vinpocetine Injection
and Aceglutamide Injection. The production process of
Cerebroprotein Hydrolysate Injection was patented by the
State Intellectual Property Office in China and obtained the
official certification with new national standard issued in 2015,
thereby reaching international standard of its product category.
Its standard of excellence and market share were well ahead
industry players in China. For international presence, it has
been focusing on market development in India and other
international territories as well as actively proceeding license
registrations in the Middle and the Southeast Asia.

. Healthcare product, Qi-Shangzhen oral solution was .
successfully launched in the market by utilising its local
resources, extract of notoginseng (sanqi) in Yunnan. The Group
believes it will be a new growth driver.

. A clinical test approval for Type Six glucose-lowering Acarbose .
of Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai), was granted by the China
Food and Drug Administration. The Group is preparing a full
laboratory assessment for the preclinical approval and a clinical
trial for diabetic drugs will be commenced within the stated
period.

. Valsatan Capsules, a hyper tension drug, has been classified as .
chemical generic medicine in the “National Essential Medicine
List” of China. The Group is undergoing a clinical trial for quality
and overall efficacy of generic medicine in reference to the
requirement of the China Food and Drug Administration.

AREBEWIIN2017F bR B % B8 1R B %
MELJBVIEBE ~ 1S REBR
£ORE o

BEEXTRELATIHFAKEOK
@Y~ IHAREWTROIHA T
BB o XA EOKEYNE
EIREDEMNNEESNFF K
o R EAR20158 IE 54 > E T [E
RMELEBRKE BADSEEERE
FERPBIRRES * IMANEEEE
MmI5ME  REEED D RREEE
REEMLIE - RHFEERVPER o

NEREDEM=LtWRERRY R E
ZEANRES £ L2 0RRK IEF
BMH S RA—EFNFIBER
& o

RARNEE(KE )N RNEEEEMF
BERESTHERRGEREER
EHAF/EBENEY R AR
FEEFRRERSEYERERIT DN
FRIEBRINERETTEER
1R 75 B IR U B it R B BR 1 B /R B
R B o

PrmBRZESPIEBELPE (BERE
REYBH)NLEHBRE  XA5E
FRGBERRGEREBEEER
BEXRMRAHUELENEYR -
M ERAR AR AR TE-

16 IBEEES



Annual Report 2017

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R S T

. To expand its penetration in OTC channels and overall sales
performance, the Group has been targetting on OTC markets
with solid brand attachment to Tuoen (Ibuprofen series) and
Tuoping (Valsartan series).

. Paediatric drugs were listed in the Women and Children’s
Specialty Catalogue and the Dosage Guide for Toddlers of
China which are connected to the direct online sourcing and
pricing network. Captialising on the opportunity, the Group
restructured its sales strategy for market expansion.

. Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) established a quality testing
system in reference to the standard stipulated in the Chinese
Pharmacopoeia, the British Pharmacopoeia and the US
Pharmacopoeia. Also, it was granted the GMP certification of
the Australian Therapeutic Goods Administration (the TGA) and
the new edition of the GMP certification in China.

. Construction and development of Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai)’'s new R&D and production base has been undergone.

. Solid emphasis has been assigned on investment and
development through identifying and conducting research and
analysis on potential targets.

. The Group has been collaborating closely with Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Company Limited, the second largest
shareholder of the Group, to enrich its product mix.

. ASLAN was listed on the Taiwan OTC Exchange in early
June 2017. The over-the-counter listing raised NTD 1billion
(equivalent to US$33 million or HK$260 million). It is expected
that the listing will unleash the true value of the investment in
ASLAN and will enhance the asset value of the Group.

OUTLOOK

The Group will further enhance the overall sales performance
through new business strategies. Healthcare product business unit
will be established to develop healthcare product market, whereas
the Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) business will be nurtured as
new growth driver for scale benefits. The Group will actively invest
in new medicine research and development and introduce novelty
generic drugs through different channels and exercises to raise its
competitiveness. It will continue to seize investment opportunities to
enter into the medical services market in China and ultimately transform
to an integrated medic-pharmaceuticals enterprise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R S T

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity remained healthy. As at 31 March 2017, the
Group had cash and bank balances of approximately HK$399,300,000
(31 March 2016: HK$394,300,000), of which approximately 27.3%
and 72.5% were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi
respectively with remaining in Australian dollars, Euros and United
States dollars. The Group has no external borrowing as at 31 March
2017. Therefore, the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its
obligation and daily operational needs.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

The Group's assets, liabilities and transactions are substantially
dominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Australian dollars, and
United States dollars.

The Group has sales and investments in foreign operations which
use currencies other than its functional currency Renminbi. As such, the
Group had some exposure to foreign currency risk. The management
from time to time determines suitable measures, such as entering
into forward currency contracts, to lessen exposure to exchange rate
fluctuation in material transactions denominated in currencies other
than Renminbi. The Group did not enter into any forward currency
contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk as at 31 March 2017 and 31
March 2016.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016, the Company had
pledged certain bank deposits in favour of a bank to secure bank
facilities granted to the Company. The bank facilities were undrawn
during the year ended 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.

EMPLOYEES

The Group employed approximately 410 employees in
Hong Kong, China and Australia as at 31 March 2017. The Group
remunerates its employees based on market terms and the
qualifications and experiences of the employees concerned.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEEGRE

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and
regulatory standards and adhering to the principles of corporate
governance, emphasizing transparency and accountability to the
shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the CG Code) in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the Listing Rules) during the FYE2017 except as mentioned
below.

Pursuant to code provision of A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate.

On 1 February 2017, Mr. Shi Shaobin ceased to act as the
Managing Director. On the same date, Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the
Chairman, was appointed as the Managing Director. The Board is of the
view that Mr. Fang Wen Quan acting as both the Chairman of the Board
and the Managing Director is acceptable and in the best interest of the
Group because of the business operation and the size of the Group.
The Board will review this situation periodically.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the businesses, strategic development,
financial performance and corporate governance of the Group.
The management is delegated with the powers and authorities for
overseeing the day-to-day operation of the Group.

The Board currently consists of 8 Directors, comprising 2
executive Directors, 3 non-executive Directors and 3 independent
non-executive Directors (INEDs) namely:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Fang Wen Quan
(Chairman and appointed as Managing Director
on 1 February 2017)

Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Shen Bo

Mr. Feng Quanming

Mr. Shi Shaobin
(Acted as Managing Director until 31 January 2017;
and re-designated from executive Director to
non-executive Director since 1 February 2017)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEEGRE

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

During the FYE2017, Mr. Shi Shaobin was re-designated from
executive Director to non-executive Director with effect from 1 February
2017 in order to devote more time on his personal matters.

The Board believes that the balance between executive Directors
and non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient balances that protect the interest of the shareholders and the
Group.

INEDs are appointed for a term of 2 years and are subject to
retirement in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

More than one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualification in accounting or related financial management expertise.
Save as disclosed in the biographical details of each Director, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family, or other
material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

The articles of association of the Company provide that one-third
of all the directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting (AGM), and the INEDs are subject to this provision.
The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
the three INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has established a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserves to the Board for its decision. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate
to the needs of the Board.

The Board has established procedures to enable directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances to enable them to discharge their duties at
the Company’s expenses. The articles of association of the Company
contain description of responsibility and operation procedures of the
Board. The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Group.

Annual Report 2017
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEEGRE

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties including the following matters attended by the
Board during the FYE2017:

o develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations and
adopt the revised CG Code and revised terms of reference
of the Audit Committee;

o review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

o review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training and professional development

Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and
regulatory developments, and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities.

All Directors are also provided with monthly updates on the
Company'’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Newly appointed Directors are provided with the necessary
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as their responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules and
regulations.
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Based on the training records provided to the Company by the REBESEETOALIRMEZEIIZ
Directors, all the Directors have participated in the trainings by reading % 2B EZ R0 B FEFENEBHE
newspapers, journals and updates and/or attending seminars relatingto 3= ~ HITI R EHEM K/ JHEHEES
corporate governance, regulatory updates, economy, general business WBEI > NEBRACEEE RTEER

or director's duties and responsibilities, etc. during the FYE2017. B~ B —MAELESEERESF o
Directors’ meeting BEEEE:

During the FYE2017, the Board held 4 full board meetings. The R2MTH B EERN » EFEETIOR
attendances of the Directors at the meetings are as follows: EFECR ETHEERIBERUT

Number of Meetings

Attended/ Held
Directors 5= HEBITERXRE
Executive Directors: HITES .
Mr. Fang Wen Quan R 4/4
(Chairman and Managing Director) (EFRFEFHLE)

Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 4/4
Non-executive Directors: ERITESE .
Mr. Shen Bo P ke 4/4
Mr. Feng Quanming BEPEE 2/4
Mr. Shi Shaobin e D St A 4/4
INEDs: BrAERITES .
Mr. Lam Yat Fai P N= Rt 4/4
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HMEREE 3/4
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HEMELE 3/4

The Board has also established the audit committee, nomination EFENANALTERZES REE

= = LA, fote

committee, remuneration committee and risk management committee @R & -HHMESEeREABREEZESE > Al
which comprises a majority of INEDs. Each of these committees has BERBERBIBILERTES ZEFEE
its own terms of reference to set out its specific duties and authorites ~ BB B ARG ZHEEHE  EPHIH
and reports to the Board. For the terms of reference of each committee, EEHERFTEURBEOEECER F
please visit the website of our Company www.tiandapharma.com. MEZESRHEHE  F2HEANIHE
uLwww.tiandapharma.com o
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
with specific written terms of reference. It comprises three INEDs of
the Company, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Fan
Wa and one executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong is the Chairman of the remuneration committee
during the year.

The remuneration committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration to all Directors
and senior management of the Company and is delegated by the
Board the responsibility to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages for all executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.

The remuneration committee held 2 meetings during the FYE2017
to review and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors, the non-executive Directors,
the INEDs and senior management; and to review the bonus to senior
management.

Details of individual attendance of its members during the
FYE2017 are as follows:

HMEES

AR zHFMEEG L SHMIL 5TH
AREZOREEEET HEBEARAI <
ZEBUFRTEFERREE - MBE
FERBNESLE  URARTZ—BH
TEETXHEE - BRREEENAFER
NRFMEESZEE

FMEEeaE( HPRE )RARS
FTEEERSREBEABZFMBUR RS
BOEFSRUES  TEEFERTR
BEURREFERHEALIZ2BNTE
ERESREBABZFEHHAS o

R2VTHHFEE  FHMESGRTM
Re#®k ' MBRENATES  FRTE
ERBIFATEEURSREEAEZ
FHTBEREELHEBRER  RBES
REBABZILL o

R2017EF U E S N BRI AL B = HE 5%
FaF

Number of Meetings

Attended/ Held

HEBITERRE

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (Chairman) MEREE(EE) 212
Mr. Fang Wen Quan F kA 112
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBESLE 212
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa I E L 112

Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest
paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to
the Listing Rules are set out in notes 10(a) & 10(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

RIERETRAMSF T NABEEZHH
EEFHMRIEESFHEEZFE > 2
B 47 & B 75 3 2 MY 5E10(a) B2 10(b) ©
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established nomination committee comprising
two INEDs, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and one
executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan (who is the
chairman of the nomination committee).

The duties of the nomination committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the INEDs and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the FYE2017, the nomination committee held 2 meetings.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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EXRE-RERES VEABSES
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R0 EERN R EE 81T
MreFko @M EaxHESBOT

Number of Meetings
Attended/ Held

HE/ BITERRHY
Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman) F XS EE) 112
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBEELE 2/2
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HEREE 212

During the FYE2017, the nomination committee had reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the INEDs and made recommendation to the Board on
re-designation from an executive Director to a non-executive Director,
and re-election of retiring Directors.

In considering the appointment of Mr. Fang Wen Quan as the
new Managing Director and re-designation of Mr. Shin Shaobin from
executive Director to non-executive Director on 1 February 2017,
the nomination committee assessed his incumbent on criteria such
as integrity, independent mindedness, experience, skill and ability to
commit time and effort to carry out their duties and responsibilities
effectively, etc. and made recommendation to the Board for approval.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a board diversity policy aiming at setting out
the approach on diversity of the Board of the Company.

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse board
in enhancing the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. A
diverse board will include and make good use of difference in the skills,
industry knowledge and experience, education, background and other
qualities, etc. of Directors and does not discriminate on the ground of
race, age gender or religious belief. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when
possible should be balanced appropriately.

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships with regards to their qualifications, skills,
experience and knowledge, assess the independence of INEDs, and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

The nomination committee is also responsible for reviewing and
reporting to the board diversity.

Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

At present, the nomination committee has not set any measurable
objectives to implement the board diversity policy. However, it will
consider and review the board diversity policy and setting of any
measurable objectives from time to time.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three INEDs of the Company,
being, Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa
and one non-executive Director Mr. Shen Bo. Mr. Lam Yat Fai is the
chairman of the audit committee.

The role and function of the audit committee include the
followings:

o review of and monitor the external auditor's independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard;

o review of the annual and interim financial statements prior
to their approval by the Board, and recommend application
of accounting policies and changes to the financial
reporting requirements; and

o review of the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems to ensure that management
has discharged its duty to have an effective internal control
system.

During the year, the audit committee held 2 meetings. Details of
individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/ Held

HE BITERRY

Mr. Lam Yat Fai (Chairman) WEBEE(ZE) 212

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLEE 112

Mr. Chiu Fan Wa I ESLE 2/2

Mr. Shen Bo Wi it 212

The work performed by the audit committee during the FYE2017 R BEERN BREBESETT
includes the followings: ZTHEBFENUTEE:

o review the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2016 and for the six months ended 30 September
2016;

o consider and approve of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor; and

o review the internal control and financial reporting matters of
the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established risk management committee
comprising two INEDs, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (chairman of risk
management committee) and Mr. Lam Yat Fai and one executive
Director, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.

The role and function of the risk management committee include
the followings:

o enhance and strengthen the system of risk management
of the Group and provide comments and recommendations
thereon to the Board;

o identify the risks of the Group and provide recommendations
to the Board; and

o other matters authorised by the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the Model Code) of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all
the Directors of the Company, they all confirm that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the FYE2017.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit and other services, including
reviewing interim results and taxation services for the year provided
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the external auditor of the Company,
amounted to HK$1,530,000 and HK$229,900 respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company acknowledge that it is their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements. The Directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and
applicable accounting principles. The Directors of the Company are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The statement of the auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 53 to 59.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems so as to ensure the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets are properly
safeguarded. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Company established an internal audit department during the
FYE2016 to assess its risk management and internal control systems,
formulating an impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its
findings to the Audit Committee, the Chairman of the Board and the
senior management concerned on a regular basis as well as following
up on all reports to ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily
resolved.

Risk Management Framework

1. Each business unit is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks within its business, ensuring that appropriate
internal controls for effective risk management are implemented
— principal risks are identified and assessed in the yearly
business planning process with action plans to manage those
risks;

2. The management is responsible for overseeing the risk
management and internal control activities of the Group —
regular meetings with each business unit to ensure principals risk
are properly managed, and new or changing risks are identified;
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3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls — review of the annual internal audit report and
consideration of the Audit Committee’s recommendation.

The risk management framework, coupled with our internal
controls, ensures that the risks associated with our different business
units are effectively controlled in line with the Group’s risk appetite.

The risk management system of the Group is designed to
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records, to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to
safeguard assets of the Group. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls, while
the Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of risk management and internal controls through the
assistance of the internal audit function.

There is no material internal control deficiency that may affect the
shareholders of the Company which has come to the attention of the
Audit Committee or the Board. The Directors are of the opinion that the
Company has complied with code provisions C.2.1 and C.2.2 on internal
controls as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.

During the FYE2017, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems through the audit
committee and the internal audit department of the Company. The
Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board formed its own view on the effectiveness of the
systems based on the review of the internal audit report and the
recommendation of the Audit Committee.
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In respect of the year ended 31 March 2017, the Board
considered the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group effective and adequate. No significant areas of concern
that may affect the financial, operational, compliance controls, and
risk management of the Group have been identified. The Board also
considered the resources, qualification and experience, training
programs and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions adequate. Nevertheless, the Group would
take further steps to continually improve its risk management and
internal control systems.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is committed to a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information
about the Group. The Company has adopted a Policy on Disclosure
of Inside Information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information. With
these guidelines and procedures, the Group has management controls
in place to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly
identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to
decide about the need for disclosure.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo Tai On, a
representative from an external secretarial services provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person with
the company secretary of the Company is Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Deputy
Financial Controller. Mr. Lo has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the FYE2017, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

The objective of shareholder communication is to provide our
shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that they
can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.
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The Company employs a range of communication tools to ensure
its shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include general meetings, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars. Procedure for voting by poll had been
read out at the general meetings. All votes of the shareholders were
taken by poll. The Company announced results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The AGM of the Company was held on 18 August 2016. A notice
convening the AGM contained in the circular dated 20 July 2016 was
dispatched to the shareholders together with the 2016 annual report.
A separate resolution was proposed by the chairman of the meeting
in respect of each separate issue, including re-election of Directors.
Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman and the executive Directors Mr. Shi
Shaobin and Mr. Lui Man Sang, Mr. Shen Bo, non-executive Director,
and three INEDs, namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa attended the AGM to answer questions raised
from shareholders. Mr. Feng Quanming, a non-executive Director of
the Company, was unable to attend the 2016 AGM due to his other
business commitment. No other general meeting was held during the
year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group fully recognises the importance of employing a
professional, truthful and proactive attitude in promoting investor
relations. This underscores the Group’s persistence in maintaining
optimum allround communications with investors, allowing it to collect
information and valuable feedbacks from investors and announce its
business strategy and direction in due course. These efforts are critical
for the Group to improve its corporate governance and strengthen
investor confidence.

Ensuring high corporate transparency is a key emphasis in
the Group’s investor relations activities. During the FYE2017, the
Group promoted investor relations through different channels. Regular
meetings were held between the management and investors. Latest
information regarding the Group and its business is proactively
disclosed to investors so that the best investment decisions can be
made. Whenever announcements on annual results, interim results
and material transactions are made, the Group will capitalise such
opportunities to enhance communications with investors, explaining
to them the Group’s latest operational situations and direction of
development.
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The Company also maintains a website at www.tiandapharma.
com, where updates on the Company’s business developments and
operations, financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through Investor Relations &
Corporate Communications Department whose contact details are as
follows:
Address: Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower,
No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2541 6558
Email: investor_relations@tianda.com

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The AGM
of the Company shall be held in each year at such place as may be
determined by the Board. All general meetings other than AGM shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting (the EGM). Set out below are
procedures by which shareholders may (1) convene the EGM; (2) put
forward enquires to the Board; and (3) put forward proposals at general
meetings. The procedures are subject to the Company’s articles of
association and applicable legislation and regulations.

(1) Procedures for shareholders to convene the EGM

Any 2 or more shareholders holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition in aggregate not less than 25 per cent
of such of the paid up capital of the Company as at the date of
the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.

Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting
and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410,
24th Floor, CITIC Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong
Kong.
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If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM,
the requisitionists themselves may convene the EGM in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be
convened by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Directors
to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered
shareholders for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to the
nature of the proposal as set out in the Company’s articles of
association and the CG Code.

Procedures to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquire to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing with the detail contact information
of the requisitionists through the Company’s principal place of
business of Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong or email to
direct_enquiries@tianda.com for the attention of the Board.

Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles
of association or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for
shareholders to put forward new resolution at general meetings
other than a proposal of a person for election as director.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to
convene the EGM for any business specified in such written
requisition.

The procedures for shareholder of the Company to propose
a person for election as director is posted on the Company
website at www.tiandapharma.com.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are research and development,
production and sales of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare
products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2017 containing a fair review of the business during the
year and discussion of future business development of the Group
and the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group is set out
in the sections headed “Report of the Chairman” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” from pages 12 to 13 and pages 14 to 19
respectively of this Annual Report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in notes 31 and 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the year under review,
there were no material and significant dispute between the Group and
its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company is committed to the sustainable development
of the environment and our society. The Group has endeavoured to
comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopted effective environmental practices to ensure our business
meet the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental
protection. The “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2017 is set out on pages 46 to 52 of
this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Board and management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
segment for the year ended 31 March 2017 is set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 21.0% of the Group’s
total revenue while the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 6.7% of the Group’s total revenue. In addition, for the
year ended 31 March 2017, the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 20.7% of the Group’s total purchases while
the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 6.1% of
the Group’s total purchases.

During the FYE2017, to the knowledge of the Directors, Tianda
Group and Hongta Tobacco (Group) Limited (Hongta) indirectly hold
the respective of 60% and 40% equity interest in Tk 375 £ 75 43 [2 3 A
EN# B BR/A 5] (Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Company Ltd.)
(Cheng Cheng Printing) which is one of the five major suppliers of the
Company.

Except for the above-disclosed, none of the Directors, associates
of Director or Shareholders of the Company (who to the knowledge
of the Directors owes more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the Company’s five major suppliers or five major
customers during the year.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 60.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO0.57 cent (2016: HK0.27 cent) per share for the FYE2017, subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2017 annual general meeting
(the AGM). The final dividend is expected to be paid on or before
Friday, 22 September 2017 to the shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 8th September
2017.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 5 September 2017 to Friday, 8 September 2017 (both day
inclusive), whereby no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed forms of
transfers with the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong Branch share registrar, Tricor Secretaries
Limited, Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 4 September 2017.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 6 to 7 of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the

Group during the FYE2017 are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
FYE2017 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
set out on pages 63 to 64 of this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2017, the Company had retained profits available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie as computed in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands of
approximately HK$125,696,537. Moreover, the share premium account
of the Company may be distributed, provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 March 2017, the
Company’s share premium account amounted to HK$339,066,948.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the FYE2017 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Fang Wen Quan
(Chairman and appointed as Managing Director
on 1 February 2017)

Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Shen Bo

Mr. Feng Quanming

Mr. Shi Shaobin
(Act as Managing Director until 31 January 2017 and
re-designated from executive Director to non-executive Director
since 1 February 2017)

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Messrs. Fang Wen Quan, Shi Shaobin and Chiu Fan
Wa shall retire from their office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. Being eligible, Mr. Fang Wen Quan
will offer himself for re-election as executive Director; Mr. Shi Shaobin
will offer himself for re-election as non-executive Director; Mr. Chiu
Fan Wa will offer himself for re-election as independent non-executive
Director at the forthcoming AGM.
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INEDs are appointed for a term of 2 years and are subject to
retirement in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 March 2017, the interests of the Company’s Directors, chief
executives and their associates in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (SFO), were as
follows:
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Shares of the Company Vi N/NSIl A
Number of
Name of Director Capacity shares held %
EEHZ g% R mEE Batk
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.56
(Note)
FX L ZEEEFE ( Btat )

Note: All the above shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. Fang Wen
Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly, is deemed
to have a corporate interest in the above shares owned by Tianda Group and
all the interests stated above represent long positions.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of a share option scheme (the Scheme) is to enable
the Company to recognise the future and/or past contributions of the
participants (as defined in the Scheme and including any director
and employee of any member of the Group) to the Company, and
to attract and retain such important participants and/or to maintain
a continuing relationship, with participants who have contributed to
the result, growth, success and benefit of the Group, and in relation
to administrative staff, to recruit and retain experienced and talented
individuals and/or to reward their past contributions.

The Scheme is for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption
on 13 July 2010. The Directors may, at their discretion, make an offer
to any participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her signing the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option and paying HK$1
by way of consideration for the grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares of the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which date must be a business
day); (i) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
offer date.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme. An option may be
exercised during a period to be determined by the Directors in its
absolute discretion and in any event such period shall not be longer
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted.
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant under the Scheme
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the total number
of shares in issue of the Company. Any further grant of options in
excess of the 1 per cent limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval
in a general meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

No Share Option has been granted since the adoption of the
Scheme on 13 July 2010.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, agreement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Scheme of the Company disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors
nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any rights
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provides that
every Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liability incurred by him as such director in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his
favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FTERRE

At 31 March 2017, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant
interests in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

M2017E3[3ME » RI|EFHF R LMK
BIEBHE ARSI FEZTERRELM
i TR RENMEERALAIHEFAER
NEBRH I LB EITIRAZBRER

Number of
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held %
RER &R &4 FrHEEZROHA Aot
Tianda Group Beneficial owner 1,194,971,370 55.56
(Note 1)
AREH BuaAA ( Brazt1)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.56
(Note 1)
T X fE SZREEFE ( Kr5t1)
SIIC Medical Science and Beneficial owner 280,517,724 13.04
Technology (Group) (Note 2)
Limited (SMST)
FEEXBENR(EEH) BEaEAA ( Kr5t2)
ARSI LEEE)
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.04
Holding Co., Ltd. (SPHL) (Note 2)
FBBEEERNDERRS SBEEHFHE (HtzE2)
(LagEz)
Shanghai Industrial Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.04
Investment (Holdings) (Note 2)
Co., Ltd. (SIIC)
EBEXE(&EEH )GRAT SZREEFE (Hfat2)
(FE£E)
Hongta Tobacco (Group) Beneficial owner 207,616,264 9.65

Limited (Hongta)
ABEE(EH)ARERE
AT AL )

Notes:

Ha#EaA

et

(1) These 1,194,971,370 shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. (1) ZEINUIMIIEE DB RREBE a ik
Mr. Fang Wen Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, Ho AXEEENRREBEE WA
accordingly, is deemed to have a corporate interest in the said 1,194,971,370 I WEEARRAREBFREF 2 Lit
shares owned by Tianda Group. 1,194,971,370 BBy PR NS AR ©

(2)  These 280,517,724 shares are beneficially owned by SMST. SMST (2)  ZZ280517,724B el FEBEERES °
is beneficially owned as to 100% by SPHL and SIIC is the controlling FEBEERRE I BEEBELTRG ML
shareholder of SPHL. Accordingly, SIIC and SPHL are deemed to be BEEA L BBENEREER -FHik £R
interested in the said 280,517,724 shares owned by SMST. SR EBEEWHEHANLIERERET

- 1t280,517, 724 L Rt P FE B M 75 o
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All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at
31 March 2017, no short position was recorded in the register kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interest representing 5% or more in the Company’s issued
share capital as at 31 March 2017.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the FYE2017, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed
securities.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the FYE2017, the Group conducted certain transactions
with connected persons which constituted “continuing connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules. Details of this continuing
connected transaction which is subject to the reporting requirements
under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

PURCHASES OF THE INSTRUCTION LEAFLETS AND
PACKAGING BOXES AND RELATED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

On 24 April 2015, a framework agreement was entered into
between Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) and Cheng Cheng Printing
for governing the transactions of purchasing printed instruction leaflets,
packaging boxes and related products and services from Cheng Cheng
Printing and its wholly-owned subsidiary by Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) for a term of three years for commencing on 1 April 2015 and
expiring on 31 March 2018. Cheng Cheng Printing is a subsidiary of
Tianda Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company, so it is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
this framework agreement and the transactions contemplated under
this agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the
transactions are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
24 April 2015 and 5 May 2015.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the FYE2017 as shown as follows:

Business type

T ERES S 0MTH B EE
FELIREEERSBIRUT

The actual
The annual cap transaction amount

E L] FEER BERZSE&H
HK$ HK$
I BT
Purchasing printed instruction REERIZRAE
leaflets, packaging boxes and BEREMUR
related products and services HEERERE 8,000,000 2,749,271

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, INEDs have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that:

1. these transactions were in the Group’s ordinary and usual
course of business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial
terms; and

3.  these transactions were carried out in accordance
with respective agreement terms which were fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu have provided
a letter to the Board confirming that the above continuing connected
transactions:

1. have received the approval of the Board;

2. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and

3. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcement(s).
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments
of the Directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in dealing his own remuneration.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules
throughout the FYE2017.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the FYE2017 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2017
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR« HERELGHRE

The Group believes that sound environmental, social and
governance (ESG) performance is critically important to the sustainable
development of its business and community. The Group is committed,
not only to achieving strong financial results, but also to promoting
environmental protection, social responsibility and effective corporate
governance.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting. The Group has established an ESG working team to engage
the management and employees across all functions in order to identify
relevant ESG issues and to assess their materiality to the Group’s
business as well as the Company’s stakeholders, through reviewing our
operations and internal discussions. Disclosures relating to the material
ESG issues identified have been included in this ESG Report pursuant
to the requirements of Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules (the ESG
Guide).

The table below shows the ESG issues which were determined to
be material to the Group, together with the aspects on the ESG Guide
to which they relate, based on the assessment performed by the ESG
working team. This ESG Report mainly covers the policies, initiatives
and performance of the Group’s business in relation to these issues, for
the year ended 31 March 2017 (the Reporting Period):
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Solid waste treatment B B R
Waste management BnER
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group has established environmental policies and
has communicated measurable environmental objectives to
employees. The Group proactively encourages the staff to protect
the environment through training, education and communication.
The ultimate goal is to have all employees adopting
environmentally-responsible behavior in both the workplace and
their daily lives.

The Group always keeps itself up-to-date on developments
in local legislation and standards for environmental protection and
is committed to achieving a level of environmental performance
that goes beyond compliance. During the Reporting Period, the
Group did not experience any cases of non-compliance relating
to environmental laws and regulations in China, Australia, Hong
Kong and Macau.

A1 Emissions

The Group is very prudent in controlling the
discharge of environmental pollutants in the production
process of pharmaceuticals. The wastewater, solid waste
generated from the Group’s pharmaceutical production
processes all meet the requirements of the state emission
standards via efficient treatment systems and monitoring
equipment. Still, the Group tries its best to minimise
pollutant emissions.

Carbon dioxide emissions

The major source of carbon dioxide emissions is
the use of energy. The Group has developed various
energy-saving initiatives to reduce the carbon footprint
(please refer to the “Use of energy” section below).

Wastewater treatment

The wastewater generated in the business of
pharmaceutical production mainly includes domestic
wastewater from daily life of staff and industrial wastewater
from the manufacturing process of pharmaceuticals.

Measures have been taken to ensure that
water discharge of the manufacturing plant under the
pharmaceutical manufacturing business meets the
regulatory standards and swages are discharged to the
municipal waste sewage pipes.
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Solid waste treatment

The solid wastes generated from the pharmaceutical
manufacturing process are non-toxic and harmless
industrial solid wastes generated from the production
process, as well as domestic wastes produced in the
employeesharmless indus.

The Group has taken a number of practical and
effective measures to reduce the environmental burden of
solid wastes and to maximise the utilisation of resources,
such as:

. Sell the waste plastic bags to the wastes recycling
department for comprehensive utilisation;

. Collect domestic solid wastes separately and sell the
recyclable wastes to the recycling station.

Waste management

Waste generated from the Group’s business activities
mainly consists of paper (e.g. office paper) during the
Reporting Period. No substantial hazardous waste was
produced by the Group during the Reporting Period.

The Group has launched a number of waste
management programs, including:

. Recycling of glass, cardboard, paper materials,
metal, printing cartridges and batteries, with
collection facilities placed across the properties; and

. to encourage staff to reduce paper consumption by
double-sided printing and reusing papers printed on
one side.

The Group is now considering making use of
recycled materials, from internal sources, to produce
corporate stationery for internal use, where feasible.
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A2

A3

Use of resources

With the vision of helping to protect the planet and of
incorporating environmental sustainability into its business
functions and processes, the Group proactively seeks
opportunities for increasing operating efficiency in order
to reduce the use of resources. The Group also closely
monitors the utilisation of resources and reports to senior
management on this aspect of performance. Appropriate
remedial actions to improve efficiency in the use of
resources are taken, whenever necessary.

Use of energy

To achieve higher energy efficiency, the Group
implemented the following key initiatives during the
Reporting Period:

. use energy efficient electronics equipment as far as
possible;

. maintain the office temperature at about 25 degree
Celsius; and

. switch off or set to energy saving mode for electronic
appliances when they are not in use.

Use of water

The Group has adopted a variety of effective
measures to conserve energy and reduce water
consumption within the scope of the routine operations,
such as:

. carefully select equipment in the production line,
giving preference to water saving equipment.

The environment and natural resources
Air quality

In order to improve air quality, the Group aims to
reduce air emissions generated from its properties by
green initiatives. The Group is committed to fulfilling and
complying with the regime of smoking prevention and
control requirements.
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B.

SOCIAL
B1 Employment
Labour practices

B2

50 IEEEEEEE0S

To ensure that the Group is able to operate
according to professional and ethical labour practices,
the Group has developed clear work processes with
robust control mechanisms which have been clearly
communicated to all employees. Certain policies to
govern employees’ affairs such as payroll, attendance and
termination are clearly set out in staff appointment letters in
compliance with Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. China,
Australia and Macau offices are in compliance with the
relevant labour laws and regulations in China, Australia and
Macau respectively.

The Group also aims to promote the diversity
of workforce, including in terms of age, gender and
nationality, as well as a culture of equal opportunity. The
management regularly reviews the Group’s remuneration
policy in relation to relevant market standards.

Health and safety
Workplace health and safety

The Group has established a set of policies
which is focused on maintaining a healthy and safe
working environment, and which includes the following
requirements:

. The facilities operated by employees should meet
safety and health standards;

. expert advice should be obtained to identify
health and safety risk in the operations and the
corresponding mitigating actions that should be
taken; and

. relevant information and training should be provided
to employees in respect of risks to their health and
safety which may arise out of their work.

The Group did not violate any health and safety laws
and regulations of China, Australia, Hong Kong and Macau,
where applicable, during the Reporting Period.

The Group has established a mechanism for
monitoring occupational health and safety, as well as
procedures for dealing with related risks. The Group
engages employees in the determination of appropriate
occupational health and safety precautionary measures.
Accident reporting and investigation procedures have also
been adopted for the follow-up of any health and safety
incidents.
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B3

B4

B5

Development and training
Employee development and training

The Group strives to promote the long-term
development of its employees by providing learning
opportunities that broaden their skills and make them
valuable assets to the Group.

Various employee training programs and seminars
held by internal/external organisations are offered to
employees including in the areas of finance, governance,
rules and regulations, supervisory and managerial skills, as
well as various technical training courses relating to their
respective job duties.

Labour standards
Anti-child and forced labour

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child and
forced labour in the Group, and is totally committed to
creating a work environment which respects human rights.

In addition to having well-established recruitment
processes requiring background checks on candidates and
formalised reporting procedures to address any exceptions
found, the Group also performs regular reviews and
inspections to detect the existence of any child or forced
labour in the operations.

Supply chain management

The Group’s main suppliers are pharmaceutical
manufacturers from Australia and China, providing raw
materials and finished products, etc. When selecting
suppliers, the Group seriously considers factors such as
the operation and production qualification, product quality,
market prospect, service quality, environmental protection
concept, business ethics and social responsibility. The
Group is inclined to select socially responsible suppliers
and hopes to implement green supply chain practices in
the Group's business. The Group is committed to creating
mutually beneficial cooperation with the suppliers.
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Product responsibility

The drug products promoted and sold by the
Group are all registered in the nation, and the imported
products are all checked and accepted by the imported
pharmaceutical inspection report issued by the drug import
ports or, domestic drugs by manufacture inspection report.
The Group’s subsidiaries involved in pharmaceutical
operations have all passed the latest GMP certification.
As for product storage, the Group has reasonable storage
arrangement according to the quality characteristics
of the products, which is equipped with warehouse,
air conditioning, and facilities for shading, ventilation,
anti-moisture, pest control, rodent control and safety
monitoring. Furthermore, the Group is equipped with
24-hour automatic temperature and humidity monitoring
system to maintain a good storage status. Before delivery,
the Group will check the products to ensure packaging
integrity. During the Reporting Period, there was no recall
of drugs due to health and safety issues.

Anti-corruption
Ant-corruption and money laundering

The Group has in place a number of policies
addressing anti-corruption, such as acceptance of gifts, and
conflicts of interest, which provide guidance to employees
in this area. The Group has also established policies and
procedures to deal with money laundering in its operations.

In addition, the Group has established prevention
system by setting up communication channels for faults and
anti-corruption reporting. The whistle-blowing system can
handle any breach of laws and regulations.

Relevant articles on anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering are provided to employees for their study and
reference in order to raise their awareness of the code of
conduct as well as related procedures and guidelines.

During the Reporting Period, no legal case regarding
corruption was brought against the Group or its employees.
Also, there were no material cases of non-compliance with
laws and regulations on anti-money laundering in China,
Australia, Hong Kong and Macau.

Community investment
Community programs and donation

The Group has been supporting education, arts and
culture and other charitable activities many years.

B6

B7

B8

EmREE
REEERHENELITS
BlxedMER AEBHEER
HENEDERBREDE RO
RO 2o iSRS B E %
i IHREERRERWER - K
EEYREGEENFATER
18 & HThRGMPSRZE o 7 & mf# 7
TH AEBERBELNEER
MHELETSENRET  Bf
HENERFERZH ~ [ Ak
e~ S BRE > B Braa s
PPR-Z2EHEERBRME
FEBANERREEZBHENR
& BERELRTRANETNR
o NI EBRGIBERETH
BB BREETEMN RS
BN AEERESRARRR
THERENERBEEMH o

k&=

RESRAEE
AEEREZEABRRRE

BHBR (M ZEYRF E

wR) REEAEE T mIRHIE

5l o AEBIREHFTBERRIEF

MEH EHNERETH o

it 5h o A5 BB B ST
WR R E S WEERIE » LB
) > BT BN ETE
ERERITR

RIS EHRENTRTE
MREBMERFRIESIEH &%
BEmESREFRRESRIL
REXENHRBEEHERSF

NBEHE > T EHAE
BygHEERHINWASHAR
o MEEERNERPE AKX
I~ FBRRPRERE LS
RBFGINEMY -

HEERE

1t EETEI R 1550
AEBEBZFRFNHBEEM

g —HEXFHE  LEHmMR

HEA#MEH o




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Deloitte
= E)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIANDA PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the Group) set out on pages 60 to 144,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (HKSAs) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

BB EIR

B ERt £

MREBESNERERBTSNETES
B ARBEHGEUFTRERNETER
EENFH BELFEHEETSHETER
GEMBHREREABRFRITEEN
FEIreHELERREEEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

HMBEt A RERARENER

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

BB R EER BT

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible
assets as a key audit matter due to the significance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and significant judgement and
estimate involved in determination of the recoverable amounts of cash
generating units to which goodwill and intangible assets have been
allocated.
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Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets
included:
EERNERELEEREZFGREFE
15

. Engaging our internal valuation expert
to evaluate the appropriateness of the
valuation methodology adopted by
management and the discount rate applied;

© ER-EBABEEFERFEEERER
Bz EEFERTBEENEE M

. Evaluating the independent external
valuer’'s competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

. SEELNEBEMMZERE ENR
BB

. Challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry and by benchmarking
against independent data;
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Key audit matters

B ERIEE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

B EF A EEREEFE

Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

As disclosed in notes 4, 15, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets as at
31 March 2017 were HK$98,714,465 and HK$41,035,718, respectively,
which have been allocated to three cash generating units engaged
in the sales of pharmaceuticals and biotechnology products and
healthcare products in the People’s Republic of China and Australia.
In estimating the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units
to which goodwill and intangible assets have been allocated, the
management has made a number of key assumptions in the value in
use calculations. The key assumptions include growth rates, discount
rates and the forecast performance based on management's view of
future business prospects. In addition, valuation expert is engaged
to perform valuation on one of the cash-generating units, Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Australia) Limited which has carrying amount of
goodwill and intangible assets (before impairment) as at 31 March 2017
of HK$2,141,711 and HK$5,881,715, respectively.
BUNRGETBRERM T4 15 -16RITAAIEE S ERE
F& & = R E RN2017FE3A318 2 B 498,714,465 T %
41,035,718 L » WE N B ENhEEARKLAE R IR KF 2
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2,141,711 # T & 5,881,715 JC ©

. Evaluating the historical accuracy of the
financial budget and the growth rate used
in the discounted cash flows by comparing
the historical budget to actual results;

. BBLERIBATAEEESL R &
MHRESTRENMBEZNBTE
HTHRIEAZIEBRE

. Testing a selection of data inputs
underpinning the cash flow forecasts
against appropriate supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets, to assess the
accuracy and reliability;

. e EEFHF(GlWEHTEE JAHZ
ERTMETERIFTE B = 8 ANEUR
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. Assessing the sensitivity analysis
prepared by management on the
significant assumptions to evaluate the
extent of impact on the discounted cash
flows; and

. FEEEERERBRIMERLAIK
REST > DFEHTHFATREZ
HERE R

. Assessing whether the disclosures
of impairment assessment in the
consolidated financial statements are
sufficient and appropriate.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Annual Report 2017
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Fung Hin Chiu.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
30 June 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeiEmAHEEEWmR

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #{Z20173/531H 1 F/&F

2017 2016
NOTES HK$ HK$
B 5E BT &I
Revenue PN 5 195,538,964 192,784,764
Cost of sales $HE LA (75,523,883)  (82,055,628)
Gross profit EF 120,015,081 110,729,136
Other income HeBA 6 7,285,274 7,181,771
Other gains and losses HEW=mEERE 7 8,010,282 2,916,026
Distribution and selling expenses NEREEXTH (49,358,441)  (51,084,727)
Administrative expenses fTE X (50,177,531) (50,103,851)
Research and development costs B 28 AL A (3,024,947) (1,213,485)
Profit before tax i 7 BT e A 32,749,718 18,424,870
Income tax expense FriS® X 8 (7,997,122) (5,057,622)
Profit for the year R 5k A 9 24,752,596 13,367,248
Other comprehensive (expense) income rEEHEHE
for the year 2H( E-':H Uiz 28
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: — GJEEE#T HEAEmBEH -
Exchange difference arising on translation of aﬁ%i/ INEBESE
foreign operations ZPEHZERE (117,708) 332,148
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEF NS
profit or loss: BmZEH
Exchange difference arising on translation to R & A& 25| & ¥ fr E &£
presentation currency ZPEHZERE (43,962,764)  (33,830,429)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEFELTXH EE (19,327,876)  (20,131,033)
Profit for the year attributable to: KEERTEEBR
Owners of the Company KNSR 12,442,265 6,568,591
Non-controlling interests FER RS 12,310,331 6,798,657
24752,506 13,367,248
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AFEE2@TXH )l
for the year attributable to: REEEN
Owners of the Company NGNS (29,619,386) (24,874,283)
Non-controlling interests JEiEpEE R 10,291,510 4,743,250
(19,327,876)  (20,131,033)
HK cent HK cent
g3 AL
Earnings per share FEREF 1" 0.58 0.32
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At 31 March 2017 322017435315
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2017 2016
NOTES HK$ HK$
Bt 5% # T BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥~ BERFEE 13 139,284,183 155,195,155
Prepaid lease payments EHEERE 14 107,201,666 117,379,136
Goodwill R 15 98,714,465 106,926,467
Intangible assets BIEE 16 41,035,718 59,136,629
Deposit for acquisition of property, WEEYI¥E ~ B F
plant and equipment REBEzZE 189,497 423,517
Available-for-sale investments THEERE 18 36,232,212 -
Investments in redeemable convertible HEN TR
preference shares of #2 B 18 S iR 18 - 30,072,784
422,657,741 469,133,688
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Inventories F& 19 35,431,963 41,681,095
Trade and bills receivables and other JE U BR SRR JE U Z R
receivables EHEREIRK 20 43,088,782 47,213,504
Prepaid lease payments TR E B 14 3,625,143 3,839,469
Bank deposits, bank RITHER - RTEH
balances and cash EHE 21 399,316,081 394,301,141
481,461,969 487,035,209
CURRENT LIABILITIES mBER
Trade and other payables EMERARREEEMARK 22 54,692,011 65,126,923
Government grants — current portion B 44 Bh — RN ERER 40 23 114,155 120,904
Amount due to a related company JEAH— R FE A S 58 33(a) 1,058,410 1,323,935
Tax payable fE TR IE 8,107,925 6,896,286
Dividend payable to non-controlling B IEEREERER
shareholders - 2,808,639
63,972,501 76,276,687
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 417,489,468 410,758,522
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEBRSER
LIABILITIES 840,147,209 879,892,210
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
EEMEIRR

At 31 March 2017 722017435315

2017 2016
NOTES HK$ HK$
M 5E BT & TT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREERE
Government grants — non-current portion BT 4 B - JE B #3610 23 751,522 916,858
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIE & & 25 26,431,976 32,241,599
27,183,498 33,158,457
NET ASSETS EEFRE 812,963,711 846,733,753
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARR#HE
Share capital B& A< 24 215,063,588 215,063,588
Reserves & 563,258,594 598,684,697
Equity attributable to owners of the Company /A 5] JR 5 B G #E 25 778,322,182 813,748,285
Non-controlling interests R R =R 34,641,529 32,985,468
TOTAL EQUITY HERS 4HEE 812,963,711 846,733,753
The consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 144 were HNBEORIMBEZ GEHBHHRERERN
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 20176 B30 B EEE S HERIZHEEMS
2017 and are signed on its behalf by: WHTIEERRESEFE
FANG WEN QUAN LUI MAN SANG
3 HE B4
Chairman Executive Director
EFFER HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2017 #£2017E3/531 H IF F /&

Attributable to owners of the Company

FhARREGER
Capital Capital Non-
Share Share  redemption contribution ~ Special  Statutory  Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseves reserve profits Total interests Total
& &%

k& BRBEE BEEE HIEE HIBE iERE EREE ZHEA B3 FERER 5t

HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

A AT AT BT AT AL A AT BT BT AT
note()  note(i)

WaH)  WE)
Att April 2015 RABEARIE 17011816 2746%,193 8000 8959307 3460016 29,088,780 19976735 205700901 729,343,748 959064188 788,407 936

Proft for the year KEERA - - - - - - - B850 6568591 67985 1336748
Exchange diference arising  AEE% 2

on fansaon BNz - - - - - - - (2B R0AT) (B2
Totel comprehensive income. AEE 2 W &

opense) ortheyear (% )65 - - - - - - PlAQGY) B (AT ATE) (3B

Issue of newshares upon ~ REEEEETER

subscription (note 24) e 28051712 81,350,140 - - - - - - 109401912 - 109401912
Transaction costs atibutable %17 5B E b
{o issue of new shares LA - (1309 - - - - - - (1809 - (12309

Appropriaton of maintenance £15 } 4 &
and production safety #2E82

fnds e ) HE(HH) - - - - -6 - %8 - - -
Utlisation of maintenance 45 5 £ &
and production safety #2E8L
fnds e ) BR(H) - - - - - ) - - - -

Divdends declared o~ [ BBRRER
non-controling shareholders = kA & - - - - - - - - (30,821,970)  (30,821,970)

At 31 March 2016 201635318 215,063,988 355,065,41 8000 8959307 3460016 30,076,167 (11466,130) 211782105 813,748,285 32985468 846,733,753

Prof for the year REEEA - - - - - - 12442265 12442265 12310331 24,752,596
Exchange dfference arising  #EEE 2
on ranslaton ERZR - - - - - - (2.061,651)

Total comprehensive income - AEE2E R &

(exoense) forheyear (it J48EE - - - - -
Appropriaton of maintenance 445 B £ &

and production safety 22887

fnds e ) B Bl - - - - - - () - - ;
Utlsation of maintenance (5 R 4 &

and production safely R2HE2

061651)  (201882) (t4080472)

(061650) 12440085 (9619308 10291500 (1937876)

funds (nofe (i) R B3k ) - - - - - (%) - s - - -
Dividends recognisedas ~ BERA AR

dstibuons 2kE - - - - - - - AR (8671 - e
Dividends declared fo BEERRRER

non-controling k&

shareholders - - - - - - - - - (6635449 (8,635.449)

At 31 March 2017 WIMEIAYME 25063588 355,065,241 §000 8989307 346006 3021089 (53.827,790) 8272781 71822182 34641529 812963711
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 March 2017 & £20174#3/531 A IF FE /&

Notes:

(ii)

64 B

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company and
the nominal amount of the share capital of a subsidiary acquired by the
Company pursuant to a corporate reorganisation in preparation for the
listing of the Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited in 1992.

The statutory reserves represent (1) the appropriation of certain
percentages of profit after taxation of the subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the PRC) as recommended by the directors
of those subsidiaries based on the PRC statutory financial statements and
(2) provision for production safety being accrued by a subsidiary in the
PRC at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 4% based on operating revenue
(the maintenance and production safety funds), which is transferred from
accumulated profits to the specific reserve and could be utilised when
expenses and capital expenditures in production maintenance and safety
measures are incurred.

BifEE

(ii)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBIERER

For the year ended 31 March 2017 L Z2017E3/531H IFF/E

Annual Report 2017

2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT I
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFEY
Profit for the year ENE ] 24,752,596 13,367,248
Adjustments for: T BEEL ZFHE
Income tax expense e 7,997,122 5,057,622
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TR E R IE i 3,661,929 3,389,797
Amortisation of intangible assets B & E#H 11,007,221 11,687,796
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - -RERIZBENE 10,383,922 9,401,774
Impairment loss recognised on goodwill HMENEHEDBERBE 2,141,711 -
Impairment loss recognised on intangible assets A X Ol 1 0 RN k= 4,255,947 -
Fair value gain on de-recognition of investmentin R [F #ERHE N T FE B TR
redeemable convertible preference shares BREBEERZ AR EEKS (6,159,428) -
Release of government grants in relation to certain &t & T & /& ¥ 3 5 BUT % BY
assets (115,314) (122,684)
Interest income on bank deposits RITHFRF EUA (5,373,104) (6,241,799)
Investment income from foreign exchange SNER IR E
linked investments > B (3,418,473) (26,752)
Loss on disposal/write off of property, HE/ MEWE
plant and equipment T P R 55 s = 5 18 75,033 455,066
Write off of intangible assets WH I & E - 17,281
Operating cash flows before movements in EEETHPIILERS
working capital mE 49,209,162 36,985,349
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERD(E) 4,390,297 (4,311,038)
Decrease in trade and bills receivables and JE U BR 3R R B U =R
other receivables JE W =R 2D 1,652,054 5,980,770
Decrease in trade and other payables EAERFEREE F’Eﬁ TA RO D> (7,131,047)  (14,610,438)
(Decrease) increase in amount due to a JEAF— R REE A S FRIE( R )
related company #h0 (193,565) 24,421
Cash generated from operations REXBHBzRE 47,926,901 24,069,064
PRC income tax paid EffPEFRFER (10,747,211)  (10,625,197)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETFHAEZRERE 37,179,690 13,443,867
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRERD

Proceeds from maturity of foreign exchange SNPE B 91X B B HA AT 5 K 1E

linked investments

1,608,867,136

1,162,307,080

Interest received B F 2 5,373,104 6,241,799
Proceeds from disposal of property, ﬁ EME - -KBER

plant and equipment %ZFE%?’X 424 312,962
Purchases of foreign exchange linked investments ~ B& & 4 Ea“ﬂ%’]&:éf (1,605,448,663) (1,162,280,328)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEVE - BEEREE (2,802,967) (3,278,642)
Additions to prepaid lease payments TE - F B FRIE D - (40,858,924)
Purchases of investments in redeemable convertible &% & ©J I [o] o] #&

preference shares BREBERIEE - (30,072,784)
Additions to intangible assets | & EEN - (402,026)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING BEEBHHES( A )

ACTIVITIES ZIREFEE 5,989,034 (68,030,863)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEBERER

For the year ended 31 March 2017 L £20174#3/531 H IF E/Z

2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT BT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEFED
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders EMERERREZERE (11,444,087)  (28,013,331)
Dividend paid EfEE (5,806,717) -
Proceeds from issue of new shares BTG Z B RIE - 109,401,912
Cost of issuing new shares BTG 2 A - (123,092)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING REFRE A )

ACTIVITIES sz R&FHE (17,250,804) 81,265,489
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH HERREEE

EQUIVALENTS THEEmSE 25,917,920 26,678,493
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REMZEER

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR HEe%EEER 394,301,141 384,185,151
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE IEEREEFZHE

RATE CHANGES (20,902,980) (16,562,503)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MRERZBRER

AT END OF THE YEAR HEFEIER

represented by bank deposits, bank balances MESRITHER ~ VRITERR

and cash HeERE 399,316,081 394,301,141
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETEERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2017 L Z2017E3/531H IFF/E

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (SEHK). Its parent company
and ultimate holding company is Tianda Group Limited (“Tianda
Group”), a private limited company incorporated in Hong
Kong, which is ultimately controlled by Mr. Fang Wen Quan.
The address of the registered office and the principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed on page 4 of the annual
report.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(RMB). As the shares of the Company are listed in the SEHK, for
the convenience of the financial statements users, the results and
financial position of the Group are expressed in Hong Kong Dollar
(HK$), the presentation currency for the consolidated financial
statements.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (HKFRSs)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the HKICPA) for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable
and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
and HKAS 41
Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment Entities: Applying
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 the Consalidation Exception
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012 - 2014 Cycle

—REIH
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (HKFRSs)

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12
Amendments to HKAS 40

Amendments to HKFRSs

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments'

Leases?

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transaction'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Disclosure Initiative*

Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses*
Transfer of Investment Property’

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Standards 2014 - 2016 Cycle®

Foreign Currency
Transactions and
Advance Consideration’
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (HKFRSs)

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective
(continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or 1

January 2018, as appropriate.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general
hedge accounting and impairment requirements for financial
assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the
Group are:

. all recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets, and that have contractual terms that
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are generally measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI). All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at their
fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In
addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair value
of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in
other comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss;
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (HKFRSs)

(continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

. in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

Application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have a material
impact on the classification and measurement of the Group’s
financial assets. The Group’s available-for-sale investments,
including those currently stated at cost less impairment, will either
be measured as fair value through profit or loss or be designated
as FVTOCI (subject to fulfillment of the designation criteria).
In addition, the expected credit loss model may result in early
provision of credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation
to the Group’s financial assets measured at amortised cost.
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of
the effect of HKFRS 9 until the Group performs a detailed review.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2015, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a
single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related Interpretations when it becomes effective.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (HKFRSs)

(continued)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step
approach to revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

. Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

. Step 3: Determine the transaction price

. Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations, principal
versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application
guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures,
however, the directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on the timing
and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective reporting
periods.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (HKFRSs)

(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17
Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts
on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability
is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact
of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease
payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands
for own use while other operating lease payments are presented
as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be both presented as
financing cash flows by the Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a lessee.
The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in
classification of these assets depending on whether the Group
presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line
item at which the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (HKFRSs)

(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17,
and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 March 2017, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$2,729,000 as disclosed
in note 27. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS
16, and hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless they
qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the application
of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of new requirements
may result changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure
as indicated above. However, it is not practical to provide a
reasonable estimate of the financial effect until the directors of
the Company complete a detailed review.

Except as described above, the directors of the Company
do not expect the application of the other new and amendments
to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective in the current year will
have material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions and/or on the disclosures set out in the consolidated
financial statements or future financial statements of the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the Listing Rules)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless
of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based payments, leasing transactions that are within
the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by
the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill

Gooduwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating unit (CGU) or
groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU is
less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit, and then to the other assets of the unit
pro rata based on of the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss in consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for discounts and
sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as below.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when goods
are delivered and title has passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

. the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

. the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

. it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress
as described below) are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified
to the appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment other than construction
in progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit and loss.

Buildings under development for future owner-occupied
purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for
production or for administrative purposes, the amortisation
of prepaid lease payments provided during the construction
period is included as part of costs of buildings under
construction. Buildings under construction are carried at cost,
less any identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management).

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

BEREFHER &)

MR~ BERRE )

V¥ BERFBERENEER
HEEPRFECHZEERTTEL
AL FEF b2 L RR c BHED
WEYX HMERRXEREMELEZ
R RZEE L ERGHRIAR
FREBEZZREE T NBENED o

ERERETERAZERTEF

EYEERREREERITHA
BE RERHEBEEANHEERK
EH ST NERZETHIMAA o &
BEFRAARER 285 ERBE
SRR o BT B o A ( IR ETE
BREERRENNEEMF A
RARR e ) FRIaITE o

MAREFER
Bt 5% 75 B B S L A B R AR
B e

BREE
XGEHEERELEERTE

DHEEDR WEEARKBEHZ AR

BE(RARENE JETVILER o




Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETEERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2017 L Z2017E3/531H IFF/E

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
with finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
Alternatively, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment losses
on tangible and intangible assets below).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when an entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into the
following specified categories: available-for-sale financial assets,
loans and receivables and fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL). The classification depends on the nature and purpose
of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchase or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sale are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified
as at FVTPL, of which interest income is included in net gains or
losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as
(a) loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c)
financial assets at fair value through profit of loss.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked
to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
investments are measured at cost less any identified impairment
losses at the end of each reporting period (see the accounting
policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial asset is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by
an acquirer as part of a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies or (i) held for trading.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

. the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping
is provided internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets and is included
in the ‘other gains and losses’.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy in
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

. breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 60
to 180 days, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amount due to a related company and dividend payable to
non-controlling shareholders are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that from an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligation are discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are calculated using the

3.
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Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGU
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition (continued)
Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than
goodwill (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
post-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata
to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange differences
are also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, exchange difference accumulated in equity arisen
from the translation of the subsidiary’s functional currency,
RMB, to the Company’s functional currency, HK$, before the
change in functional currency of the Company from HK$ to RMB,
are reclassified to profit or loss. Whereas exchange difference
accumulated in equity arisen from the translation of subsidiary or
associate’s and the Company’s functional currency, RMB, to the
Group’s presentation currency, HK$, are transferred directly to
accumulated profits after the change in functional currency of the
Company.

In addition, in relation to the disposal of a foreign operation
whose functional currency is in currency other than RMB (i.e.
Australian Dollar, or AUD), the exchange difference accumulated
in equity arisen from the translation of the subsidiary’s functional
currency, to the Group’s presentation currency, HK$, are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
equity under the heading of exchange reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
income in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expenses unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance lease whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leasing (continued)
Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases
in which case the entire lease is classified as an operating
lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any
lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of
the leasehold interests in the land element and building element
of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether an impairment is required requires
an estimation of recoverable amounts of relevant intangible
assets or the respective CGU in which the goodwill and intangible
assets belong, which is the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs to sell. If there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired, recoverable amount shall be estimated for individual
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
the individual asset, the Group shall determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash
flows expected to arise from the relevant assets or the CGU and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
The discount rate represents rate that reflects current market
assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset or the CGU for which the future cash flow estimates
have not been adjusted. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected or there is a downward revision of future
estimated cash flows due to unfavourable changes in facts and
circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise. Details of
the recoverable amount calculation of the relevant assets and
respective CGU are disclosed in note 17.
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Managing Director of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (CODM), for
the purposes of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on the types of goods delivered. Other
than the revenue analysis as set out in note 5(e), no operating
results and other discrete financial information relating to major
products is prepared regularly for internal reporting to the CODM
for resources allocation and performance assessment. The
CODM reviews the financial performance of pharmaceutical and
biotechnology business as a whole for allocating resources and
assessing performance. In addition, the CODM monitors the
Group’s assets and liabilities as a whole, accordingly, no segment
assets and liabilities are presented.

(a) Segment revenue and results

WK 53 ERE Y

Ziﬁﬂ?%ﬁﬁﬁé“fﬁ&éﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
fﬂ,ﬁﬁﬁzﬁz\?%%%ﬁ%fi ey
REEE E(Z:éﬂ%qﬂﬁEHEﬁcﬁ
Z BRI o BrBIsES(e) T = A 7>
o MEERRHE T EEMERH
MESEBERAENLHBTER S
RN ERRGFEOEREERR
EETARER -  TEEERREE
BEREELEYEBOYHERE - )
NEERRFMERER o LI TEE
ﬁ RREEBRAEENEREEREA
E AW ESINMEER RS o

(a) DEBBANRFE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue UTAXEBZWARE
and results. BN o
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
I BT
REVENUE - EXTERNAL N - 5MEB 195,538,964 192,784,764
SEGMENT PROFIT S EREEF 31,166,921 21,172,470
Other income HEe®BA 2,662,846 5,110,938
Other gains and losses HeW=KEE 7,621,134 2,537,681
Unallocated expenses KAOBEH (16,698,305) (15,453,841)
Profit for the year KEERF 24,752,596 13,367,248

The accounting policies of the operating segment are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment profit represents the profit after tax earned
by the segment without allocation of central administration
costs, directors’ salaries, certain other income, and
other gains and losses. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. WARSEHER )
(b)  Other segment information (b) HESIBER
2017
Pharmaceutical
and
biotechnology
business Unallocated Total
BEL YRR FKHEL st
HK$ HK$ HK$
Amount included in the measure 5+ & 4> 3% F1 5
of segment profit or loss or EEHE s B
segment assets BERGTAZ
Additions of property, plantand R & ¥ ~
equipment [Ea e ] 2,897,680 117,799 3,015,479
Amortisation of intangible assets 2 & 7 # $5 11,007,221 - 11,007,221
Depreciation of property, plant MEBER
and equipment BN 10,068,832 315,090 10,383,922
Amortisation of prepaid lease TEfTFA & FRIE HE 8
payments 3,661,929 - 3,661,929
Loss on disposal/write off of HE IMEmE
property, plant and equipment BB R
18 75,033 - 75,033
Impairment loss recognised on BEMNBE#ER
goodwill PERIEN ] 2,141,711 - 2,141,711
Impairment loss recognised on B EEN
intangible assets ERBREREE 4,255,947 - 4,255,947
Interest income SN 2,710,306 2,662,798 5,373,104
Investment income BEWAN 173,188 3,245,285 3,418,473
Income tax expense Fris = H 7,997,122 - 7,997,122
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Other segment information (continued)

5. WANEDEER ®)

(b)

HESESER @)

2016
Pharmaceutical
and
biotechnology
business Unallocated Total
BEAEYET KoTE gt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT AT
Amount included in the measure 5t 8 5 2B % 7 5 &5
of segment profit or loss or B8 5 L A
segment assets SFAZEE
Additions of property, plant WEWE - BB
and equipment REE 3,926,657 138,527 4,065,184
Amortisation of intangible assets % Ji2 & /& i § 11,687,797 - 11,687,797
Depreciation of property, ME -~ BB REE
plant and equipment E 8,998,740 403,034 9,401,774
Additions of prepaid lease FEAHFRE FRIE G 0
payments 40,858,924 - 40,858,924
Amortisation of prepaid lease TE A FH & FRIE 8
payments 3,389,797 - 3,389,797
Loss on disposal/write off of HE/ MEEWE -~
property, plant and equipment AR
B8 432,693 22,373 455,066
Write off of intangible assets W mAE B E 17,281 - 17,281
Interest income F 2z N 1,131,371 5,110,428 6,241,799
Investment income BEUWN 834,022 (807,270) 26,752
Income tax expense Frisf & H 5,057,622 - 5,057,622
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Geographical information
The Group principally operates in the PRC (country
of domicile), Hong Kong and Australia.

The following table provides an analysis of the
Group’s sales by geographical market based on the
location of operations irrespective of the origin of goods/
services.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current assets (exclude financial
assets) by geographical location of the assets are detailed

5.

BWANESEBER @)

(c)

by [ 3

AEBTERDE( LR
EER ) BRI AR 8
5 o

TRRBEEFAEREMR
AEBRBETSH(TRED
ARH = AR ) B> 2 55 4T o

AEBRBIBEF 2
ANEREBEZmELES S IF
RBEE(FBEEMEE )ER

below: SAIE
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
KEMBERZWN EREEE
2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
The PRC th 193,682,020 189,725,333 382,686,331 428,068,831
Hong Kong 5B 1,391,342 1,079,635 2,022,442 2,493,379
Australia R K F B8 465,602 1,979,796 1,716,756 8,498,694
195,538,964 192,784,764 386,425,529 439,060,904

(d) Information about major customer

No major customer has been accounted for 10% or

more of the Group’s revenue for both reporting periods.

(d EERETEERZEH
Y 8 R S B 0 I A A{a]
TEEF(EXREB KR A10%E] X
o
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5.

(e) Revenue from major products

WNEDEBER &)

(e) ETEEmZHBA

Annual Report 2017

2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT I
Pharmaceutical, biotechnology and BE -AYRRBESD
healthcare products
— Cerebroprotein hydrolysate injection - B EEKED 67,435,162 57,602,903
— Tuoping (Valsartan capsules) -REFE(EHEPIBERE) 54,376,077 57,543,419
— Tuoen (Ibuprofen suspension and drops) - £ B ( #& 25 R
BREAE ) 36,985,769 39,204,960
- Others -HEE 36,741,956 38,433,482
195,538,964 192,784,764
OTHER INCOME 6. HEW®A
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT I
Interest income on bank deposits BITERA BUAN 5,373,104 6,241,799
Release of government grants in relation to & T EEE B
certain assets (note 23) wHEN( BT EE23) 115,314 122,684
Unconditional government grants (note) EHRMBUTHEN( Mt ) 1,182,699 447,798
Others HE 614,157 369,490
7,285,274 7,181,771

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2017, several PRC subsidiaries
received total amount of approximately HK$1,183,000 (2016:
HK$448,000) to recognise the eminent brand of pharmaceutical and

biotechnology products.

Mt MEE2017F3IAMNBILFEN  HH

o [ fff B A =) U A

#85KTE 491,183,000

7 IT( 20164F : 448,000 7T IR E &
BEYEDZEL DM o
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7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HeEWZmKEE
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Exchange gain, net PE 5 Uk 0B 5 3,682,747 3,361,621
Investment income from foreign SNERN IR E Z B URAN

exchange linked investments 3,418,473 26,752
Fair value gain on derecognition HIEHESBRER T ER

of investments in redeemable convertible TRBEEERZ AR

preference shares (note 18) BE R FHE18) 6,159,428 -
Loss on disposal/write off of property, HE/HMEWE -~ MER

plant and equipment HEZEE (75,033) (455,066)
Impairment loss recognised on HMENERABBEERE

goodwill (note 15) ( fFsE15) (2,141,711) -
Impairment loss recognised on intangible ML EENEERBE

assets (note 16) 1R ( B 5E16 ) (4,255,947) -
Refund for cancellation of research and BUEMEIEH 2R =K

development project (note) (BFsT) 1,222,325 -
Write off of intangible assets WiHEE EE - (17,281)

8,010,282 2,916,026

Note: The amount represented a refund of expenses paid to an independent st AEAMREAXFR —ENEEEG—

third party in previous year for a research and development project.
The project was cancelled by the vendor during the year ended 31

March 2017.

BEIBE=FeXNEBHNIRMK %
TRl MR R EE2017438318 £

EREBH o
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8.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. HMBERIH
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT &I
Current tax: RIEARR IS ¢
PRC enterprise income tax (PRC EIT) T EPERER 10,797,465 7,271,362
Withholding tax AR 1,063,408 3,755,082
11,860,873 11,026,444
Underprovision in prior years: BEFEEELLE
PRC EIT T EMSERER 309,001 1,017,764
Deferred tax (note 25): IR FERRIA( BF5T25 ) ¢
Current year KERE (4,172,752) (6,986,586)
7,997,122 5,057,622

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
is not subject to any income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profits for both years. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group has no
assessable profit arising in, or derived from, Hong Kong for both
years.

The tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is 25%,
except Yunnan Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Meng
Sheng Pharmaceutical) and Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)
Ltd. (Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)), subsidiaries of the
Group.

Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical is established in the Kunming
economic development zone. Pursuant to the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC, Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical is engaged
in Western China Development and was entitled to a preferential
tax rate of 15% for both years. Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)
is qualified as advanced technology enterprises and has obtained
approvals from the relevant tax authorities for the applicable tax
rate reduced to 15% for a period of 3 years up to 2018.

FrIRFEFSEMML B
BESMNERER

RMEFEER  FEMNEREG
ST SRR T AR K 16.5%5 & o BBt
AEBEMBEFESEESBELY
KEEBZERBRGF > WEEHE
B SRR o

BRAKBZHBRAIEERLE
HEFRNE)( BEZREE ) RRAREE
(BRB)ARAS(RREX(ZKE))
S REEPENBRAIZRNER
25% ©

BAEBEENBPLEREEN
3o MRIRPBEERZERRER &
HEEZHPETEIFEE > BN WE
FENZHEBEREISD RAEHE
(% )HESFRTEEERE  BF
HEAMBHEME BERXERE
15% > REA=F » BEE2018F Rt
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8.

104

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

8. FifE

The corporate tax rate applicable to Tianda Pharmaceuticals

(Australia) Pty Ltd (Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia)), a
subsidiary of the Company established and operating in Australia,
is 30% for both years. No provision for the Australian income tax
has been provided as the Group had no taxable profit arising in

Australia for both years.

BXdH @)

RWEFEEN  BANRKAKZEE

(RAFEE )HRAS( RKREE(BRAK
FUEE)) > AN S OB KF AR SR
B HBAS )z hERER30% - B
B A 55 B 7 W {8 6 I SR 7R R KA 52

BRI > fEME R AH 52
PRiST st o

The income tax expense for both years can be reconciled

to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

MEFEZAERXHESGER

MR H T2 s R Z BRI R ¥

loss and other comprehensive income as follows: BRI ¢
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit before tax B 2 B 048 A 32,749,718 18,424,870
Tax at 25% for the years ended B E2017F %20165E3 8318 1E
31 March 2017 and 2016 FEERBPMETH 2 RIE 8,187,430 4,606,218
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BRMBEmMS A TIEX
for tax purpose MG & 1,527,865 1,047,377
Tax effect of income not taxable M FmM=sBERREAZ
for tax purpose MIFELE (3,005,064) (2,551,346)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERRMEBERMBLE 3,977,148 4,371,900
Utilisation of tax losses previously A ABRRZREER
not recognised (430,750) -
Effect of tax concession grant to PRC B EKME LS ZRIE
subsidiaries BEHYE (4,073,104) (3,745,090)
Underprovision in prior years BEFEBEELIE 309,001 1,017,764
Withholding tax of income generated TENBRAIEEZRAZ
from the PRC subsidiaries SicEnki) 1,504,596 310,799
Income tax expense for the year KEEFRERE 7,997,122 5,057,622

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 25.

I 3E R IR = 5% 16 #UHS B 5525 o




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

arETEERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2017 L Z2017E3/531H IFF/E

Annual Report 2017

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. AXEEER
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit for the year has been arrived at after KEEBF 2F0BR
charging:
Directors’ emoluments (note 10) B < ( FFeE10) 2,440,096 2,065,614
Other staff costs HEETHA
Salaries and other benefits HFEREEEF 31,238,261 30,823,601
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R K48 7 5t 8 5k 2,668,794 4,272,337
Total staff costs (excluded staff costs ETHAER IB8EFE
capitalised in inventories) BRLZETIAHA) 36,347,151 37,161,552
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TEFTFHE RIE#H 85 3,661,929 3,389,797
Auditors’ remuneration ZEED & 1,722,185 1,803,932
Cost of inventories recognised as expense mRAIEZHEEMA
(including of amortisation of intangible assets ~ ( B IE & & & = # #4
of HK$11,007,221 (2016: HK$11,687,797)) 11,007,221 70 2016 4F
11,687,7977# 7T ) ) 75,523,883 82,055,628
Depreciation of property, ME - BERZHENE
plant and equipment 10,383,922 9,401,774
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10.

106 I

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’

EE THAHKEEMNE

EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERITHAZME
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and EXNABEMAEARATES
the chief executive of the Company were as follows: RITBBEMEmT :
Fang Lui Lam Chiu Chiu
Wen Man Shi Shen Feng Yat Sung Fan
Quan* Sang*  Shaobin' Bo'  Quanming' Fai” Hong” Wa” Total
FuE*  BXE EOE g BEE HEBY  EERT ENE gt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
(Note a) (Notes a & b) (Note d)
(Bizta) (Hizkakb) (Hiztd )
2017
Fees we 60,000 72,000 72,000 72,000 - 72,000 72,000 72,000 492,000
Other emolumens 2EHe
Salaries and other benefits FERETEN - - 1,886,680 - - - - - 1,886,680
Rerement benefit RINEFIFTBIRE
scheme contributions - - 61,416 - - - - - 1,416
Total emoluments Hemag 60,000 72000 2,020,096 72,000 - 72,000 72,000 72000 2,440,09%
Fang Lui Lam Chiu Chiu
Wen Shi Liu Man Shen Feng Yat Sung Fan
Quan*  Shaobin®  Huifiang" Sang* Bo'  Quanming' Fai” Hong™ Wa” Total
pXE EOW*  He® A R B2B BB BERT  HNED it
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT AT AT AT AT AT D AT AT AT
(Note ¢) (Note ¢) (Note c)
(Mae)  (Mste) (M)
2016
Fees e 60,000 72,000 58,710 72,000 4651 - 72,000 72,000 72,000 525,281
Other emolumens £EHe
Salaries and ofher FeRETEA
benefits - 148334 - - - - - - - 148334
Retirement benefit RIEHE B
scheme confributions - 56,989 - - - - - - - 56,989
Total emoluments [k 60000 1612333 58710 72,000 46571 - 72,000 72,000 72000 2065614
* Executive directors * HITESE
A Non-executive directors A FERTES
o Independent non-executive directors o B ERITES
# Managing Director (chief executive) # EEECIE( TERAER)
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown

above were mainly for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group, the non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as the Directors of
the Company or its subsidiaries whereas the independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors.

Notes:

(@)

Mr. Shi Shaobin has resigned as Managing Director (chief
executive) of the Company on 1 February 2017 and Mr.
Fang Wen Quan was appointed as Managing Director (chief
executive) of the Company with effect from 1 February 2017.

Mr. Shi Shaobin was re-designated from an executive director
to a non-executive director of the Company with effect from 1
February 2017.

Mr. Liu Huijiang resigned as executive director on 23 March
2016.

Mr. Feng Quanming was appointed as non-executive director
on 23 March 2016.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan resigned as Managing Director (chief
executive) but remained as an executive director of the
Company on 3 August 2015. On the same date, Mr. Shi
Shaobin has been appointed and taken up the role as
Managing Director (chief executive) of the Company.

None of the directors waived any emoluments during

the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.

10. EH 1T

(a)

HEAZKEEME &)

EERITHARMES (@)

g fTEEZMEsEE
RRERK RN REEBETHIR
HEERBHBH 0 LR IFRT
EEZHMESRFERRSERK
nE KB A S EERHURTE
ZEHM M IFRITES
ZHETERBREHEESRM
AR % Z $REN o

B 5E

(@) HEIREAE B R2017FE2818 B
EAASEFHLE(THRA
) MAXBEEREZERK
AT EBHRLCE(THARK ) B
2017528 1HRBER ©

(b) MM SEEB2017TF2R1HER
ERESRTEETEEENTE
Ho

(©) % & 3% 4 120165238230 &
ERITES o

(d) B2 BH % A4 RN20164E3 8230
ZFERERITES

(e) A XHEFAEMR2015F8H3H BHE
ESHELCE(THARBE
BBERRASTZHTES [
B Mo e A EREL HER
N ZEBFELEB(TEER )

B E 20174 K 201653 531
BiEF & o I 5 33 ST B
4 o
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10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES' 10. EE -~ THAEHKEEM £ (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in AEBEBRE RS S AL
the Group, one (2016: one) was a director of the Company B —&AL(2016F : —2& )
whose emolument is included in the disclosures in note (a) RARSES(KzHESERE
above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2016: four) XHfaE(a) ik FE ) o HERWEZ AL

individuals were as follows: (20164 : W& )zBl<@T :
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
#BIT BT
Salaries and other benefits HerHEEHN 3,526,580 3,009,909
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR {4 & 7| 5t &I { 5% 54,000 92,692
3,580,580 3,102,601
Their emoluments were within the following bands: HEZHEBRUTEE
2017 2016
No. of No. of
employees employees
EE#HH BE%E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 253 55 21,000,000 T 3 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7T %£2,000,0007 T 1 -
During both years, no emolument was paid by the RWEFERN AKEIL
Group to the directors of the Company and five highest BOANSIEEREG RS HH
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining ALTXAEE > DUERBEZMNA
the Group or as compensation for loss of office. REBHNIMANREB 2 87

FIERBERAEE o
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable

11.

BRAF

AR RREIEGRERETT

to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: RTINS E
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT AT
Earnings ZF
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings STEEREARZF A AT
per share 12,442,265 6,568,591
Number of shares & B
Number of ordinary shares in issue for the FTEERELABFEFAZ
purpose of basic earnings per share BE#fTL @R 2,150,635,884  2,050,231,999

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company
does not have any dilutive shares in issue during both years.

12.  DIVIDENDS

The Board has recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK$12,258,625 (2016: HK$5,806,717) (HK0.57 cent
per share (2016: HKO0.27 cent per share)) for the year ended 31
March 2017 to the shareholders of the Company and is subject to
the approval by the shareholders at Annual General Meeting.

12,

BN AR SR W EFE NI EE
PTERTREEER RN B E
2 EREERT o

iz 8

EECEZNALTKREIRMS
B E20M7TEIANB L FERPR L
12,258,625 7T ( 20164F © 5,806,717 %
TC ) T BR0.5778 1l ( 20164 : £ f%0.27
B AFBRERERBEREH
o HEEE o
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. M- BERRE
Furniture, Construction
Plant and Leasehold fixtures and Motor in
Buildings machinery improvements equipment vehicles progress Total
B  HRREE HENERE BB RERGE RE BRIR &%
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT ) D AT AT AT AT
cosT HA
At 1 April 2015 R15E4R1E 118,568,834 50,766,394 1,546,913 16,376,931 6,960,623 307,092 194,526,987
Exchange realignment ERRE (4.91,829) (2101181) - (551,392) (263,005) (12,852) (7,830,259)
Additions WE - 2447449 56,93 648,086 - 912,71 4,065,184
Disposalshwritten-off HE/H - (2.343.862) - (755,403) (206,068) - (3.30,333)
Transfer from (1) HEO(Z)ERIE
construcion in progress 626,597 36,106 - 29421 - (902,124) -
At 31 March 2016 R6EIFIE 114,263,603 48,804,906 1,603,851 15,957,643 6,501,750 04827 187,456,580
Exchange realignment ERHE (6,379,530) (2,742,363) - (736476) (319.897) (270) (10,200,%7)
Additions AE - 2,054,576 - 269,831 - 691,072 3015479
Disposalsfriten-off HE/ W - (389,740) - (259,383) (1,126) - (656,249)
Transfer from (to) ERp(E)ERIE
construction in progress - 125470 - - - (125,170) -
At 31 March 2017 RTEIANA 107,904,073 47,852,549 1,603,851 15,231,615 6,174,721 848,028 179,614,843
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RiHE
At 1 April 2015 ROBE4R1E 12,216,994 6,661,677 386,728 3544312 3,659,581 - 26,469,292
Exchange realignment L (633,191) (318,14) - (78,518) (142,513) - (1,072,33)
Provided for the year FERRRE 1,932,032 4,650,895 156,569 2122560 539,698 - 9401,774
Eiminated on disposals/ writen-off HE/ MBS - (1,710,865) - (641,178) (185462) - (2537,308)
At 31 March 2016 RA6EIFINE 13,615,835 9,283,793 543317 4947176 3871304 - 32261425
Exchange realignment ERHE (794,163) (559,670) - (184,385 (195,677) - (1,733,89)
Provided for the year FEERRE 3,304,653 4474931 160,385 1871702 482951 - 10,383 922
Eliminated on disposals/ written-off HE/HEnEs - (349,949) - (227,206) (3,637) - (580,792)
At 31 March 2017 RTEIANA 16,216,325 12,848,405 703,702 6,407,267 4,154,941 - 40,330,660
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2017 RTEIANA 91,667,748 35,004,144 900,149 8,624,328 2,019,786 848,028 139,284,183
At 31 March 2016 R216E3R31 B 100,667,768 39,521,113 1,060,534 11,010,467 2,630,446 04827 155,195,155

The buildings, which are situated on leasehold land are

located in the PRC.

HET EZBFHMRPE o
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13.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

13. ¥ -BEERE &)

Fit#% s BERHEERENE
AORE T I EREHRINE

annum:
Buildings 3% - 10% BF 3%-10%
Plant and machinery 5% — 10% R P5 R 1 23 5%-10%
Leasehold improvements 10% - 33.33% or the term of FAEMLEE  10%-33.33%5
the lease, if shorter FHEHI( WwEsE )
Furniture, fixtures and 10% - 20% RENEKE 10%—-20%
equipment e
Motor vehicles 10% - 20% HE 10%-20%
14. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 14. FAFHEERIE
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Prepaid lease payments for medium-term NRPE P EARE L
leasehold land in the PRC: Z¥EMFHERRIE
Included in current assets BERNREBEENW 3,625,143 3,839,469
Included in non-current assets BERNIETHEEN 107,201,666 117,379,136

110,826,809 121,218,605

During the year ended 31 March 2016, Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) acquired the land use right of a piece of land in Zhuhai
City, Guangdong Province, the PRC at a consideration (included
stamp duties) of RMB33,304,109 (equivalent to approximately
HK$40,859,000). The Group establish new facilities on the
land, which are used for research, production and sales for the
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare business of the
Group.

REE2016F3831B IEFF >
RAREX(KRE RWBUNTHERS
e —gLh L FERE R
BE( BIETER ) A AR %33,304,1097C
( #9485 $240,859,0003% 7T ) o AEEH
Zietih FEERHEE BEAEE
BEEYBRBERRBEB R &
EREERR o
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15.  GOODWILL 15. HE
Goodwill is allocated to the following CGUs: HMENREETIRESELEN
Meng Tianda Tianda
Sheng  Pharmaceuticals ~ Pharmaceuticals
Pharmaceutical (Australia) (Zhuhai) Total
RREX RREX
AL (BAFE) (3% ) B
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT BT BT
COST B
At 1 April 2015 7201554818 6,699,306 2,139,755 102,776,428 111,615,489
Exchange realignment PEHAE (277,012) 1,778 (4,413,788) (4,689,022)
At 31 March 2016 720165£3 8318 6,422,294 2,141,533 98,362,640 106,926,467
Exchange realignment BHHE (358,505) 178 (5,711,964) (6,070,291)
At 31 March 2017 #®2017E3A3MA 6,063,789 2,141,711 92,650,676 100,856,176
IMPAIRMENT 18
At 1 April 2015 and H2015F4A1E &

31 March 2016 2016535310 - - - -
Impairment loss recognised ERDBESBR - 2,141,111 - 2,141,711
At 31 March 2017 R20174£3A31H - 2,141,711 - 2,141,711
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 March 2017 R2017E3A3MH 6,063,789 - 92,650,676 98,714,465
At 31 March 2016 7201638318 6,422,294 2,141,533 98,362,640 106,926,467

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill as at

31 March 2017 and 2016 are disclosed in note 17.

BEAR2017TER2016F3831H =
BEBERN R Z BRI 1T E o
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16.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. EREE
Licenses
Trademark and permits Total
HiE BRBRFAE st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BIT I BT
COST A
At 1 April 2015 201554818 5,557,503 98,383,400 103,940,903
Exchange realignment bE s 4,182 (3,975,772) (3,971,590)
Additions NE 6,426 395,600 402,026
Written-off e (14,365) (3,998) (18,363)
At 31 March 2016 72201653 831H 5,553,746 94,799,230 100,352,976
Exchange realignment BE 5 A & 461 (5,147,287) (5,146,826)
At 31 March 2017 201743 A31H 5,554,207 89,651,943 95,206,150
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION ZE&ti#sH
At 1 April 2015 7201554818 - 30,901,379 30,901,379
Exchange realignment bE 5 58 2 - (1,371,746) (1,371,746)
Provided for the year AEEREE - 11,687,796 11,687,796
Eliminated on written-off TR 0 85 B 4 5 - (1,082) (1,082)
At 31 March 2016 720163 831H - 41,216,347 41,216,347
Exchange realignment bE 38 - (2,309,083) (2,309,083)
Provided for the year KEFREME - 11,007,221 11,007,221
At 31 March 2017 201743 A31H - 49,914,485 49,914,485
IMPAIRMENT BB
At 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016  A2015F4 818 &
201638318 - - -
Impairment loss recognised BRI E R 4,255,947 - 4,255,947
At 31 March 2017 7201743 A31H 4,255,947 - 4,255,947
CARRYING VALUE ERTE B
At 31 March 2017 R2017£3H31H 1,298,260 39,737,458 41,035,718
At 31 March 2016 72016 E3 5318 5,553,746 53,582,883 59,136,629
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(REN 7 xEmRAS

16.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 16. EREEE®)
Intangible assets are allocated to the following CGUs: BEEESRETIRECELE
(as
Trademark Licenses and permits Total
L HERE A& st
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
BT BT T BT T BT
Tianda Pharmaceuticals K RZE¥( %5 )
(Zhuhai) - - 39,409,950 52,561,023 39,409,950 52,561,023
Tianda Pharmaceuticals K K &%
(Australia) (BAFE) 1,298,260 5,553,746 327,508 1,021,860 1,625,768 6,575,606
1,298,260 5,553,746 39,737,458 53,582,883 41,035,718 59,136,629

Particulars regarding impairment testing on intangible
assets as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 are disclosed in note 17.

Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) has obtained medicine
production licenses and permits that used to manufacture and sell
the medicine and drugs. The licenses and permits are granted by
Guangdong Food and Medicine Supervision and Administration
Bureau and subject to renewal every 5 years without significant
cost. Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the licenses
and permits using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of the licenses and permits of 8 years.

Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia) has obtained permits
that used to manufacture and sell the healthcare products.
The permits are granted by Therapeutic Goods Administration,
Australia and subject to renewal every year without significant
cost. Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of permits
using the straight line method over the estimated useful life of
permits of 5 years.

The trademark included several brand names held by
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia) which allow the Group to
produce products under those brand names. The trademark is
treated as having indefinite useful life because it is expected to
contribute to net cash inflows to the Group indefinitely. Therefore,
it is not amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.

BHRIM2017FE R20165F3H318 =
| B ERE RS 2 S E R 173

%o

RREE(KEB)EMGHNHE
ERIFEENRERZEREENR
RFUH ARRFIZHERER
mELEBEEERMY  ABLTHE
B ARG R - #iHEEH
DBARRBREATEREZMASTTERF
HNFEREBEREMRHERBRTT
FRLA o

AREX(BRKAFE)ENEH
MNBEERBEERBERZFITE
2F o] 25 1 )R K FJ SETherapeutic Goods
Administrationftt H + ATk FEEHT » 1T
BXNERER MEEEI AN
AEZMEFUEREREFNERE
BROEMEEF T BALA

PIREERARZEE(RAT R )FF
Bz ZEMMETE  BAEETUZ
EoMEBEEED - BNHIETEST
JERAB/AEETRRESANZ
BoBMEAE AR AERITERAFH
Bt RIFEEETERFHRAFIR
CRHIBENE T o
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17.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill and
intangible assets has been allocated to three (2016: three)
CGUs, namely, (1) Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical, (2) Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) and (3) Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Australia), which amounting to HK$6,063,789 (2016:
HK$6,422,294), HK$131,829,860 (2016: HK$150,923,663) and
HK$8,254,014 (2016: HK$8,717,139), respectively at 31 March
2017. All of which are engaged in the sales of pharmaceuticals
and biotechnology products and healthcare products.

CGU for Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical

The recoverable amount of the CGU arising from Meng
Sheng Pharmaceutical was determined based on value in
use calculations. The value in use calculations use cash flow
projection based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period and a discount rate of 12.66% (2016:
12.66%). Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 3% growth rate for this CGU. The key assumption
is budgeted revenue and gross margins determined based on
past performance and the management's expectations for the
market development.

No impairment on this CGU is made for both years as
the recoverable amount, which is the value in use, exceeded
the carrying amount (comprising goodwill). The directors of the
Company believe that any reasonably possible change in any
of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying
amount of the CGU to exceed the aggregate recoverable
amounts of CGU.

17.

HEOBREREEZRERTME

BREENAMS FERE
KFEEENREE=ZHERSEALEN
(20164 : =@ ) RD(1)EB 4 2 %
QR KNZEE(HKE), RA)RKREX
(B AF ) #2017E3F31E 2 5l
%5 #16,063,7897 T ( 20164F © 6,422,294
# 9T ) ~ 131,829,860 T ( 20164
150,923,663 7T ) & 8,254,014 T (
20164F : 8,717,139 7T ) o 2% /A 51
HEHEBELEYRPTELRRBE

]
oo ©

BEEECREELE N

KEBABEEREEL BN
oY El e EEFERBESTEFAE
EoFHEESTEREZRAZIRSR
EER M EEE bR E T EHAR
2z M B TEE R I E12.66%( 20165 :
12.66% )5t 8 o ZFMEEL ERMNEF
R E > HSRENRAN BT
REBE  TERIABEUERER
EEEHTSERETEYPE T TEE
WAREFEK o

HRZREEEFEMNTRE £
RAMEREE)BBROEBER
B) UmEFEARERZREE
£ EREHREE - EFMEE 0 ETZ
SRFTRLREONEEHLEH T
CRRTESENZREOBEBEH
oI Bl S EH AR o
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17.

16 Il

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

CGU for Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

The recoverable amount of the CGU arising from Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) was determined based on value in
use calculations. The value in use calculations use cash flow
projection based on financial budget approved by management
covering a ten-year period and a discount rate of 13.66% (2016:
13.66%). Cash flow beyond the 10-year period are extrapolated
using a steady 3% growth rate for the CGU. The key assumption
is budgeted revenue and gross margins determined based on
past performance and the management’s expectations for the
market development.

No impairment on this CGU is made for both years as the
recoverable amount, which is the value in use, exceeded the
carrying amount (comprising goodwill and intangible assets).
The directors of the Company believe that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the aggregate
recoverable amount of CGU.

CGU for Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia)

The recoverable amount of the CGU arising from Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Australia) was determined based on value in
use calculations. The value in use calculations use cash flow
projection based on financial budgets approved by management
covering five-year period and a post-tax discount rate of 22.00%
(2016: 15.67%). The increase in discount rate applied was
attributable to additional risks to the achievability of the cash flow
forecast due to increasing competition in healthcare products.
Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using
a steady 3% growth rate for the CGU. The key assumption is
budgeted revenue and gross margins determined based on the
past performance and the management’s expectations for the
market development.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group
recognised an impairment loss of HK$2,141,711 and
HK$4,225,947 in relation to goodwill and intangible assets arising
on the CGU of Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia) due to the
intense competition in the market of healthcare products which
resulted in a decrease in sales revenue for the year ended 31
March 2017 as compared to the budget and the expected future
cashflows is decreased accordingly. As a result, the difference of
recoverable amount, which is the value in use, and the carrying
amount (comprising goodwill and intangible assets) is recognised
as an impairment loss and charged to profit or loss.

17.

HEUBREMEEZ BRIERFMH &)
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS/INVESTMENTS IN 18, At HE&E#HE L E R AT EE 7

REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES R BT Rk
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Available-for-sale investments ot HERE 36,232,212 -
Series C Preference Shares in ASLAN Pharmaceuticals Limited
ASLAN Pharmaceuticals Limited (ASLAN) (SRR )WICHR B i - 30,072,784

On 1 December 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an investment agreement to subscribe for
2,058,942 Series C Convertible Preference Shares of ASLAN
(the ASLAN Preference Shares), a company incorporated in
the Cayman lIslands, with an aggregate investment cost of
US$3,870,811, equivalent to HK$30,072,784. The investee is
principally engaged in an oncology focused biotechnology and
developing a portfolio of immunotherapies and targeted drugs,
focusing on Asia prevalent tumour types. It has developed
several oncology focused drugs addressing multiple indications
including biliary tract cancer, gastric cancer and breast cancer.
It has several compounds in late stage development: varlitinib
(ASLANO001), a pan-HER inhibitor which has completed phase 2
studies in gastric cancer, and is entering pivotal studies for biliary
tract cancer; and ASLANOQO2 is currently in phase 2 development
for gastric and breast cancer.

The ASLAN Preference Shares would be either (i)
convertible into ordinary shares of ASLAN at the option of the
Company, subject to the approval by the directors of ASLAN or
(ii) automatically converted into ordinary shares of ASLAN upon
listing of ASLAN on a recognised stock exchange which values
ASLAN with a market capitalisation of at least a certain specified
amount. The ASLAN Preference Shares would be redeemable by
ASLAN after 27 November 2021 at 100% repayable and would
bear interest at 8% per annum from 1 December 2015 to the date
of redemption.

M2015FE12818 » A AT H 2
BB LI R EmEMUREE
ME(RESEESFMMLN LT )
192,058,942 1% CHi o] 3 f 8 S B& ( ZE %
BEBEKR) B EHEMAKAE3870,811
5T ABE 30,072,784 T o xR B
FEEFEITNEMNSEMREE  FE
RRBEFEEZEENEEY A DR
FAS e MREMHEL ZREEEHR
FHNEY  EEZEBELE  B1EE
B BEERILIRE SHELELS
W) B TN % BA B % B ER 0 8 FFvarlitinib
(ASLANOQO1) » A& —FE;ZHERHI &L HE > £
SERL B E2ME ERAT ST 0 I I N\ E
BN 0 WUKRASLAN02 » B
BRI B s R FLBR R RO SR 2B ERFR 38 o

TMEELR()THARAS R
EIRATMELER  BASTHE
FEHES()VEN EMENRR T ES
RO ITRasERATMRE R
B MZELEXGREEZTMED
BERDREECSE HEBRLRY
BB 35 6 R R2021 11 B27TH £ EE |
FZ100%E 1 W 4§ B2015F1281 8 #2
BEEERL B IR EFR K% A o
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18.

18 Il

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS/INVESTMENTS IN
REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES

(continued)

The fair value estimates of the conversion option
component is correlated with the unquoted equity instrument
of which the fair value cannot be reliably measured, thus, such
conversion option cannot be reliably measured and the entire
investment is treated as held for trading. Further, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the equity component of the
investment is significant and accordingly, such held for trading
investment was measured at cost less impairment, if any as at 31
March 2016.

Pursuant to the extraordinary shareholders meeting of
ASLAN held on 27 May 2016, all the ASLAN Preference Shares
held by the Group were converted into the ordinary shares
of ASLAN. Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of ASLAN held on 27 May 2016, a share subdivision
was approved and effective on 27 May 2016, each of the existing
issued and unissued ordinary shares of ASLAN subdivided into
two subdivided ordinary shares of ASLAN (the ASLAN Subdivided
Ordinary Share(s)) at par value of New Taiwan Dollar (NTD) 10
each. Accordingly, the carrying amount of the ASLAN Preference
Shares (which accounted for 3.56% equity interest in ASLAN)
re-designated as the available-for-sale investment to the Group
on 27 May 2016 based on the fair value of ordinary shares of
ASLAN at the date of conversion, by reference to 19,667,000
new ordinary shares issued and allotted to pre-IPO investors at
subscription price of US$1.13 per new ordinary share on 27 May
2016. The difference between the fair value of ASLAN Subdivided
Ordinary Shares recognised by the Group as available-for-sale
investments and the cost of convertible preference shares
of HK$6,159,428 are recognised as other gains upon the
conversion.

The available-for-sale investments are measured at cost
less impairment losses, if any, at the end of reporting period
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the directors of the Company are of opinion that
its fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Pursuant to the announcement of ASLAN on 24 May 2017,
ASLAN has successfully concluded an initial public offering to
the Taipei Exchange (TPEx) and its shares commence trading on
TPEX on 1 June 2017.

18.
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19.

20.

INVENTORIES 19. 78
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Raw materials B 8,201,477 9,682,824
Work in progress ERG 6,752,698 6,351,499
Finished goods AR 20,477,788 25,646,772
35,431,963 41,681,095

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER  20.

B RSB ZREEERK

RECEIVABLES N
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT &I
Trade and bills receivables FEUTBR SRR B W Z R 38,749,127 42,331,007
Prepayments to suppliers o] i B 7 TR F SR 1E 1,388,766 1,851,932

Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HEEU = « 2 &

TEfFFRIE 2,950,889 3,030,565
43,088,782 47,213,504

The Group allows average credit periods ranging from 60 to
180 days to its trade customers. The following is an aged analysis
of trade and bills receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:

KEBL T N F0E180K 1~ %
2 EEHTFTHESGEF - UTA
RIZHE T 0 HF 250 8 UL BR 3k & B Uk
ZR( CHBRRRES RBREHR
BRES AT

2017 2016

HK$ HK$

# T AT

Within 60 days 60K N 26,540,492 21,286,957
61-90 days 61F90X 3,105,424 5,995,274
Over 90 days HBIBI0K 9,103,211 15,048,776
38,749,127 42,331,007

Included in the carrying value of trade and bills receivables
as at 31 March 2017 is bills receivables of HK$23,050,596 (2016:
HK$27,264,979).

M20174E3 8318 @ EUBREN R JiE
U =ik =~ BR T {E B 45 A& $123,050,5978 T
= FEUTE 4R ( 20164F @ 27,264,9793 7T ) o
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20.

120 IS

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits of
each customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed once
a year. All of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor
impaired have good credit quality assessed by the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables balance
are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$295,026
(2016: HK$202,926) which are past due as at the reporting date
for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and amounts
are still considered recoverable based on historical experience.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. The average age of these receivables is as follows:

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired

20.

BUERAEEUEEREERK

;@)

REMEAFEF > AEES
WEEEF 2 ERMRRSEG L
REGREF L ERRE - BF TS
> REEBERN —K o A RBY
A 2 6 U PR R0 A e 3 4
ARBRIFERIR o

KEE 2 fE R AR R E U ZiR 45
8 6 ¥E5 IR T 18 & £295,0263% 7T ( 2016
202,926 T ) ERNkE BB @R
ZEBRB HRNEEERNHEEKR
BEHARBBEEHBEBABNER
ABolb s At AEBIYERZS
HIBEH B EEBEEE o

FEET BAZSERTHEN
IR o SZHIE WAR M = I BR 6 20
T

161 A M R IR 18 = FE U BR R 2 AR Y

2017 2016

HK$ HK$

&I BT

61-90 days 612 90K 106,225 69,333
Over 90 days BIBI0KR 188,801 133,593
295,026 202,926

The Group’s trade and bills receivables and other
receivables denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities are set out below:

FEENEEETRDEESR
Moz B HIME 2 U AR SRR R U 2
BRRETEBWSREINWOT

2017 2016

HK$ HK$

T BT

HK$ &I 1,807,731 413,906
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21.

22.

BANK DEPOSITS, BANK BALANCES AND CASH 2. SRITHERRITERRRE

The bank deposits, which comprise short-term fixed BTHEXBERIHFEALH
deposits with original maturity of 7 days to 3 months (2016: 1 to 3 E-@A(2016F  —E=E8 )z%
months), carry market interest rates ranging from 0.26% to 4.10% HAE B 3R )3 B F E A F0.26%

(2016: 0.01% to 4.30%) per annum.

ZE4.10%( 20164 1 0.01%2%4.30% )5T 2 ©

Bank balances carry variable interest at market rates which RATA BRI 1 F0.01%%E0.35%
range from 0.01% to 0.35% (2016: 0.01% to 0.35%) per annum. (20164 : 0.01%%E0.35% )= T 15 % &)
FHEEFR o

The Group’s bank deposits, bank balances and cash that AEBMNEEEER KL

are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency Mohz E¥FME Z RITHER ~ RIT4E
of the respective group entities are set out below: BEEEHEHIWT

2017 2016

HK$ HK$

BT BT

HK$ BT 108,897,254 123,321,776

USs$ ETT 314,415 313,747

EUR BT 5,593 8,119

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

22. EEERIEREECEMNRK

2017 2016

HK$ HK$

#IT BT

Trade payables J& F BR 5K 11,262,460 16,359,909
Deposits received from customers BEEFWR % 4,636,645 4,158,463
Value added tax and other tax payables EMEEHRRETEMNRIE 4,656,706 3,030,103
Other payables and accrued staff costs HERBMREESTE TR A 34,136,200 41,578,448
54,692,011 65,126,923
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22.  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 22. ENEIRETEMR @)

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 BEFIIEEHN TF60XR EWN
to 90 days. The aging analysis of trade payables presented is ReMBEPRR  AEEDREEER
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. The BEIZFIEMBRARARE = 47 o AR
following is an analysis of the Group’s trade payables at the end RAKBZEBMARANRBREHARZ 7
of the reporting period: O

2017 2016

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within 60 days 60K N 7,193,404 6,448,290
61 - 90 days 61ZE 90K 2,464,244 3,947,367
Over 90 days FEBEL PN 1,604,812 5,964,252
11,262,460 16,359,909

Included in the trade payables at 31 March 2017, R2017FE3F3M B 2 EFERFR P
HK$4,151,971 (2016: HK$7,201,064) has been paid by endorsed 4,151,9717% Jo( 20164 : 7,201,064 7T )
bills for which the maturity date has not yet fallen due as at 31 T ARR2017E3 B3 B KRB B HEE
March 2017 (see note 29). XA RBEE29 ) 0

23.  GOVERNMENT GRANTS 23. BIATHIEN

HK$

BT
At 1 April 2015 7R2015FE4 818 1,208,643
Exchange realignment PE M e (48,197)
Credited to profit or loss FEAE R (122,684)
At 31 March 2016 72016 E3H31H 1,037,762
Exchange realignment PE M e (56,771)
Credited to profit or loss FEAE R (115,314)
At 31 March 2017 #2017E3H31H 865,677
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23.  GOVERNMENT GRANTS (continued) 23. HIAFHREBN (@)

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEMIEL AT
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT AT
Current liabilities* B &g 114,155 120,904
Non-current liabilities Erehas 751,522 916,858
865,677 1,037,762

* The carrying amount of the government grants which is expected to * TEETRARR T ZER N BAEBRZH
be released to profit or loss in the next twelve months is classified as FHBZREAEE S EARBIES ©
current.

Note: Grants were designated for the cost of acquisition of certain plant and Mist SZtBI HIEEANBALEEBELY
equipment for the production of pharmaceutical and biotechnology ERMHEZzETHREREHBZMA
products and were deferred and are released to income on a straight- WERERANBHREEZBERTFEA
line basis over the expected useful lives of the related assets. FHREREBARA

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, A
Number
of shares Amount
RRHEE &%
HK$
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each FEREEN0E T E B
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2015, 31 March 2016 and 2017 #R2015F4 818 ~
2016 & 20173 831H 4,000,000,000 400,000,000
Issued and fully paid: EBTREARE
At 1 April 2015 720154 B1H 1,870,118,160 187,011,816
Issue of new shares upon subscription (note) =7 B B 3% 17 37 B ( Bff =% ) 280,517,724 28,051,772

At 31 March 2016 and 2017 20164 K 20174£3831H 2,150,635,884 215,063,588

Note: On 20 July 2015, the Company entered into the subscription BFsT (HR2015F7H208 » A /A 5 o — 3R
agreement with the sole subscriber for the subscription of an BASTTIREHZR AEFHER
aggregate 280,517,724 new shares for an aggregate consideration of EEERRBERMIIETIRES
HK$109,401,912 at the subscription price of HK$0.39 per subscription 3280517, 724 > R E A
share. The subscription was completed on 10 August 2015. 109,401,912 JT o SREEEIE 2 5220156F

8H108 25k ©
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25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

25 RERIEEME

FFEERNWEFERB T HIE

years:
Fair value Withholding
adjustment tax on
of property, Prepaid distributable
plant and lease  Intangible profit of
equipment payments assets subsidiaries Total
mE KB Mt 8 2> B
BBz LIR30 B3
rRiElE Tt ik
AE HERE EREE L wEE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2015 201545108 3,915,408 14,180,379 18,536,152 3,984,028 40,615,967
Exchange realignment EHAE (159,883) (579,048) (648,851) - (1,387,782)
(Credit) charge to profitor loss 748 & Y
(TN )F0B& (138,922) (503,131)  (2,900,250) 310,799 (3,231,504)
Release to profit or loss upon NIEATEIRE
utilisation of withholding tax BOEBH - - - (3,755,082)  (3,755,082)
At 31 March 2016 72016435318 3,616,603 13098200 14987,051 539745 32,241,599
Exchange realignment P H e (200,570) (726,416) (709,885) - (1,636,871)
(Credit) charge to profitor loss ~ ZEB &
($F AR (130575)  (472,903) (4,010462) 1,504,506  (3,109,344)
Release to profit or loss upon RERTEHRE
utilisation of withholding tax BoEER - - - (1,063,408)  (1,063,408)
At 31 March 2017 R2017E3A31H 3,285,458 11,898,881 10,266,704 980,933 26,431,976
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25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 25, RERIEEE

The Group's subsidiaries that are tax resident in the PRC
are subject to the PRC dividend withholding tax of 10% for
those non-PRC resident immediate holding company registered
in the British Virgin Islands, when and if undistributed earnings
are declared to be paid as dividends out of profits that arose on
or after 1 January 2008. Accordingly, a provision for deferred
taxation in respect of withholding tax on undistributed earnings
of approximately HK$9,809,000 (2016: HK$5,397,000) has been
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2017.

At 31 March 2017, the Group had unused tax losses
of approximately HK$296,801,000 (2016: HK$280,892,000)
available to offset against future profits. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of nil (2016: approximately HK$1,723,000)
would be expired in 2019. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams.

RIBEREAIAEENE
REMEREBERRESEMZIF
TEEHERERRASERRDIRE
FaE - MARMKE T B2008F1H
THS zBEE ZBF P EEK > AlA
FEH10% < F B fx S TEHI R o F Ut »
REE2017TFE3B3MN B L FEER KD
Ik & =z F8 40 % 7 38 499,809,000 T
( 20164F : 5,397,0007# TT ) = I 4 7 186 75
e

R20174E38318 » KEEBTHMN
MR GF 2 RBBREBEROS
296,801,000 7T ( 20164F : 280,892,000
BL)c ABABREERTEET
( 20164F : #491,723,0003% 7T )% #°20194F
o HeBETERPLEE - N
i DITER R AOR A 85 0 I By R
EAMEBEEERREERBEE o
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 26. BIKEFIETE

126

The Group’s Hong Kong subsidiaries operate a Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the MPF Scheme)
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contribution are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme. The Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme up to a
maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per employee monthly, which
contribution is matched by the employee.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$212,604
(2016: HK$245,226) represents contributions paid to the MPF
Scheme by the Group in respect of the current year.

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are
members of state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated
by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions. For the year
ended 31 March 2017, the total cost charged to profit or loss of
HK$2,517,606 (2016: HK$2,881,830) represents contributions
paid to the state-managed retirement benefit scheme by the
Group in respect of the current year.

FEEZFTENBRIAHEE
12 BRI M A SIRIKER 5HE( 58
BEEE )z RERLREESHE o
HEREERELAF S X -G OLHE
o WERBRE S 58 4R BB A
B BRI P F0BR ©

BRTEH I EERAEHR
BESHTA THEBEIEEESE
Ho AEBEZEIEKXNHNTHRR
TEEERES - ARERETES
STEIE L BRI B AL A Z 5%k L
RESAMH5008TTA LR HE
8 2 A5 o

B R N F0 B = 48 B A<212,604 7%
TC( 20164F : 245,226 ¢ )ie A &£ Bt
AEFHBBESTERMN Mo

AEBZPHHNBERASZREE
APTBBNLHBEREERAKIEN
STEIZE c ZEMBLRSIBRKTFE
A = 85 E T A e R R AE A 5T B E
HER AEFRERES - AEE
BARBHFE M —ETAEHIERE
K o HE2017E3IBIMB IEFE >
B T N T B = 48 AL 22,517,606 7 I
( 20164F : 2,881,8305% 7T )fs AEE gk &
FEBEREERKENSHE SN
Bk o
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27.  OPERATING LEASE 27. REHED
The Group as lessee AEBEREKBEAN
Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases FARBEEHAOR B AETYE
in respect of office premises during the year amounted to Tz &R E FRIE A3,714,694% T
HK$3,714,694 (2016: HK$3,711,644). (20164F : 3,711,644 7T ) ©
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RIEHR  AEER T TTEE
commitments for future minimum lease payments under ZREMHUBAINZ REXREAERK
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: HAEZZSHBWOT
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
T &I
Within one year —F W 2,728,965 3,574,560
In the second to fifth year inclusive MEZHRFEN
(BEEEWME) - 2,728,965
2,728,965 6,303,525
Operating leases are negotiated for an average term of 3 KEROLER B FIFHA
years and rentals are fixed over the relevant lease term. 3 MMESRNERERRNEREES
B o
28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 28. BARKIE
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
T I
Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition #t 2T #91E i KN &2 & A1 75
of property, plant and equipment contracted HRREBHBZWEDE
for but not provided in the consolidated BEHEBzEREX
financial statements 3,916,219 595,454
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29.

30.

128

TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 29 HESHEE
As at 31 March 2017, the Group has bills receivables of R2017E3IAFMNE  AEB% 2
HK$4,151,971 (2016: HK$7,201,064) that were transferred to HEREEZBEERKRIR MEE
suppliers by endorsing those receivables on a full recourse basis. THE R 2 B EZ R 24,151,971 T
As the Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards (20164 : 7,201,064 7T ) c BN AEE
relating to these receivables, it continues to recognise the full WHREFERZERBIAETRZEKX
carrying amount of the bill receivables and trade payables. These BB B Bl 3R 0 S AR B TR B R SR R U
financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the Group’s ZRREMRAZIKRAE  ZESH
consolidated statement of financial position. EERBHEMANAEBDZ GE50HH
AR FIER ©
Bills receivables
endorsed to
suppliers with
full recourse
EHEEEELR
cHEREZEUNER
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount of bills receivables B ZRZ REE 4,151,971 7,201,064
Carrying amount of trade payables FEFM R REE (4,151,971) (7,201,064)
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 30. FEARMERTE

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme
(the Scheme) adopted on 13 July 2010 for the primary purpose
of providing incentives to directors and eligible employees, the
directors and employees of the Company may, at the discretion
of the Company’s directors, be granted options (the Options)
to subscribe for shares in the Company (the Shares) at a
price determined by its directors, but shall not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price of a Share as stated in the daily
quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

Without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders,
the total number of shares in respect of which Options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, and the
number of shares in respect of which Options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time.

TRAR A /A S 7201057 B 13 B £R 48
Z BT 8I( Z5TE ) ZEHEIZ X
ZEHNRMEFREEEESRME
B> AR EFTNBERALIES
RESRTERE(BRE)  UZE
REVEFHEEZ BERBR LI KH
(ZFkRG ) BLHREEETERR
(VZBHRR L B BIER S #EH 2
BHRERFAWZBWHE S ()ZEK
MRBEERH B A EE X8 A
XLz B BMERARZFEYK
B R(i)ZBRMNEEBHZTE

=EzmeE-C

REXNFRRELAME > RIF
ZETEI TRt BRI R &)
METEBIB A RS RNERREE%
TRGZ10% > MRERN—FERNT
AT B BRES R Z K
MEE » THBIBARAS R ETEE
EBITRNZ1%
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30.

31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
from the date of its adoption. Options granted must be taken up
not later than 30 days after the date of grant. A consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an Option.
An Option is exercisable on the date when the offer for the grant
of Options is made but shall end in any event not later than 10
years from the date of grant of the Options.

No Options have been granted since the adoption of the
Scheme.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern in order
to support its business and maximise shareholders value. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital,
accumulated profits and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis to maintain a strong capital base to support
the development of the Group’s business. The directors of
the Company also balance its overall capital structure through
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debts.

30.

31.

AR RS (&)

ZETEERRMERAETERNE
oo ikt z R RN B EA
BIRKNER - MR HBREESR
FASMAETIERNKE - BRETR
BERRLEBREQBITE  EREM
BRATEANBERERHBPETEN
e

B ERaszst 8IDUKR  WARFRHE
o] B B o

BAREREE

FEEBERAEANEREAEE
SERIFELE  UXFHEEBR
RIBRRER FAEEEREREKREXEX
FREF—-H -

FEEEAEHED AL RRE
ERERAEMN > BIERA - Retaf &
Hef#fh o

FREEETERMTEAREE
MRBEEEARER  XFHAEBED
BR o ARSEBTFEBIMNEE
BITHBRURBETHEF U ELERE
AREHERTE

129



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ETERERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2017 L £20174#3/531 H IF E/Z

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. £fTH
a.  Categories of financial instruments a. EMIAESN#E
2017 2016
Financial instrument classification HK$ HK$
ST RS &I T
Financial assets
EREE
Trade and bills receivables and Loans and receivables
other receivables* 39,634,927 44,038,688
JIE Ut B SR R B LU 4R R LSO ES
HERWR
Bank deposits, bank balances Loans and receivables
and cash 399,316,081 394,301,141
RITER RTEBRERS B R E WK
Available-for-sale investments Available-for-sale investments 36,232,212 -
P ERE g ERE
Investments in redeemable At FVTPL
convertible preference shares - 30,072,784
BB o] B ] ol #R B 1B S B 2B EES NER
475,183,220 468,412,613
Financial liabilities
SHBME
Trade and other payables At amortised cost 18,580,577 18,750,531
EBRA R EE R AR T2 S A A
Amount due to a related company At amortised cost 1,058,410 1,323,935
FEAT— R BE A S RIE TR SH AL A
Dividend payable to non-controlling At amortised cost
shareholders - 2,808,639
ERERBERREZRR TR SE R AR
19,638,987 22,883,105
* Excluding prepayments and deposits * FTEEEMRERZES
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and bills receivables and other receivables, bank
deposits, bank balances and cash, available-for-sale
investments, trade and other payables and amount due to
a related company. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. It is, and has been
throughout the year, the Group’s policy not to enter into
trading of derivative financial instruments.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include credit risk, market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk) and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
perform an obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group
requires some of its customers to make prepayment
on their purchase of pharmaceutical products. And the
management has delegated a team responsible for the
determination of credit limits for other customers, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

32.

TR H®)

BHEREERSREK
AEBZTESMIAS

EEURAREUEREAEE
EWER ~ |ITHFEK -~ RITEHRR
RE~ THEERE - BRI
RHEEBRNREEN—BREER
SR o ZEEM TR BN
EHRM TR HE - RBEFE
N AEBZHRERTETIE
THIREHF

HZETHMIARRZR
BEEERR  DH AR &
BRERETERR )RR ES
JE\ B o o] PR 52 5% & B = BUSK
HRTX EEEEERERZ
SRk BRREE B ERBUE

B o

EEE R

M FHTREBTEE
A ASBAARIFEBAKEL
RUBERZ&XEEER %
Rk B R EBEFEMBERE
WIS ERREMEES B Z IR
mE e

mEREERR X&E
BEREEZFHREBE - BEE
mIEMR - EEBEBEZR—EA
EEEEEHERFPZEER
BCESHERACERER
DU (R B BUER X 45 76 s (00 380 HA 1
Holtsh  AEEBENSREH
AHEBEENEZERZ T
B &38R » AR T U E £ 58
B B HBERE - Bt S
FREEERREIEBZEER
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2. £ H (%)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HBRAKREERERBKR &)
(continued)
Credit risk (continued) EERMRE)

At 31 March 2017, the Group has concentration of R2017E3F/3MH » KE
credit risk relating to trade receivables as 38.8% (2016: HREBWRIBEEZESE
24.3%) of the outstanding balances is due from five (2016: ERE b 0 B%HE38.8%( 20164 :
five) external customers in the PRC. Other than several 243% )z REEEHRBEKES
major customers, the exposure is widely spread over a (2016%FF : A& )P EISBEF =
large number of customers during the current financial I o RAMBFEN  Br#is
year. FEEFHN BRRRKREEZD

MEZBEF o

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the nBEEZEERRA
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned R REREFHIREBREEE
by international credit-rating agencies or state-owned SR A S E AR RIT
banks located in the PRC. RN HzBEHERT o
Market risks 5% /& [

(i) Currency risk () EEERE
Certain bank deposits, trade receivables, AEBETRGTRE
other receivables, trade and other payables of the M oEWERF-HEEREYK

Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The K -EBFHBREAREEER

Group currently does not have a foreign currency KN ETIE o KEE B

hedging policy. However, the management monitors By dF 4 SN TP BUR o

foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging R BIEE B R NE R

significant foreign currency exposure should the need b W NEFTEREER

arise. ¥ 8 K HNE R B ©
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign RmERER £A&KE
currency denominated monetary assets and U EFIEzEEEER
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period LERaEZRAOBELT
are as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE =i
2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT & TT T AT
HK$ BT 109,608,835 123,735,682 23,871 126,250
United States Dollar 37T
(US$) 314,415 313,745 - -
Euro (EUR) BX 7T 5,503 8,119 - -
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32.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 2. £MT R4
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HBRAKREERERBKR &)
(continued)
Market risks (continued) HEE bR %)
(i) Currency risk (continued) (i) KRR E)
The following table details the Group’s TRFINEAEBNE

sensitivity to a 4% (2016: 4%) increase and decrease
in RMB, the functional currency of the respective
group entities, against the relevant foreign currencies
for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2016.
The sensitivity rate represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates with reference to historical
fluctuation of foreign exchange rates during the year.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at 31 March 2017 and 2016
for a corresponding change in foreign currencies
rates. A negative/positive number below indicates
a decreasel/increase in post-tax profit for the year
where the RMB strengthens against the relevant
currencies. For a weakening of RMB against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year.

F2017F R20165F3831H
LEFEARK(EREEER
B ) KA
B THE R B2 E4%( 2016
4% )z BURE o B E KRG
EEEZ2ETNBEEX
BB R RS
BEH Z 5 {h o BURE 2
TEBFEUMNEIEZ R
FEEHIE B I R2017F
&20165F3 8310 & X =
HESENFAEHLRE o 4
ARBHEBAERETE
BIMT&E / EBERASE
EZBRRERF D 1
flemM ARBHABEHER
RE A EHAFEZ
B 12 0 7 2 A B %5 R AH
Rz % o

2017 2016
HK$ HKS$

BT BT

HK$ #TT (3,727,000) (4,129,000)
Us$ 7 (10,501) (10,479)

The balances of bank deposits denominated
in foreign currencies fluctuated throughout the year
and in management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the year.

REBEEEZAN DS
BETEZRITHERS G
REFH DR FREEOER
SMBE LB I R R BRE R
b EERER R 0 B
EarERR=EEZ
b Jal Big o
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32.  FINANCIAL

b. Finan

INSTRUMENTS (continued)

cial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risks (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank deposits and bank
balances which carry at prevailing market interest
rates. The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy. However, the Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to the bank
deposits and bank balances which bear floating
interest rates at the end of the reporting period. A
10 basis points (2016: 10 basis points) increase
or decrease is used to present management
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates for those balances mainly denominated
in RMB and HKS$ at the year end.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points
(2016: 10 basis points) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s pre-tax
profit for the year ended 31 March 2017 would
increase/decrease approximately by HK$399,000
(2016: HK$394,000).

2. £ H (%)

b. HMBRAKREERERBK4)

TS E R4 )

(1)

FF @ g

AEBBERETR
BN XEREBHNUERT
WHSH R EZRITHENK
RRTESRZRITHHT
KRBT B o AEEBRE
3 48 1 o] 1 2R 8 0P BUSR o
R AEBREEFER
(IR YN S &
P E AR R o

FI ZEBLRE 79T

PUR SR AT 75 &
N|MEHRZERITHER
R ERITAE R H B = A By
M o LTS T RR10ERES
(20164F : 10{EEE ) T3 AR
2IEEEHFTEMNUAR
RERAETIEZHEGRZF
EFXUEEESEH 2 F
f&o

WA EEFH /T B
1018 £ 25 ( 20164 : 101@
B )M BEEZHK
BAE BN E E201748
SAMMBEEEAER >
B B s A AS 1 R D
#9399,0007 7T ( 2016 -
394,000 7T ) ©
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

b.

2. EmiTH (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HBRAKREERERBKR &)
(continued)
Liquidity risk B4 B
In the management of the liquidity risk, the AEBNEER TS MR K
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash B BRERERFHESRESEE
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to EHEAEEEERARUALXEE
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of ZEEBERHESRAKESRE
fluctuations in cash flows. WENZ LB Z KFE o
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRHAIAEEBRBEH T
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities BNz ETEEmMEBEZT
based on the agreed repayment dates. The table has been BREAHAR o SRk HIRBASKE
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial ROUEERKEEREREEZRT
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group BHizEmEBEERLRESRE
can be required to pay. i o
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than undiscounted Carrying
interest 3 months cash flows amount
mEgFH REREE
BERFZE OSR=EA RELE REE
% HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 March 2017 R2017437318
Trade and other payables EMERARECEMNHK - 18,580,577 18,580,577 18,580,577
Amount dug to a related company B —MEERSHE - 1,058,410 1,058,410 1,058,410
19,638,987 19,638,987 19,638,987
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32.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2. £ H (%)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HBRAKREERERBKR &)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) BB )
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest 3 months cash flows amount
M9 AEHRE
ERAZX DPR=Z@EF REELR fRE{E
% HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 March 2016 7201638318
Trade and other payables EFERHR
HEEFAH - 18,750,531 18,750,531 18,750,531
Amount due to a related company B —EEE AT
1B - 1,323,935 1,323,935 1,323,935
Dividend payable to non-controlling B ERBERR
shareholders KB - 2,808,639 2,808,639 2,808,639
22,883,105 22,883,105 22,883,105
c.  Fairvalue c. NR{EE

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts
of all financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their corresponding fair values.

33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

EERR MEARKEEHM
sk R IR S AL A S AR = </l
AERTHABEROESEME
Bz rREBEMBE -

33. BAEALHE

(a) Amount due to a related company (a) FEM—ERELRKIE
2017 2016
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Trade balances (Note) B sEeR( KisE) 1,058,410 1,323,935

Note: As at 31 March 2017, the Group’s amount due to a related
company, Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co. Ltd. (Cheng
Cheng) which is a fellow subsidiary of the Company, is trading
in nature, arising from purchase of packaging materials for
pharmaceuticals and biotechnological products. The whole
amount as at 31 March 2017 and 2016 are aged within 90
days. The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and with
credit term within 90 days.

st @ R2017E3B31H » AEBE &
F—BRERASKRELERE
BAEFERRS(HA) (&
NS A EN ) FNSIE Y
BoHME THRHEEEELY
< BRI B EE © 5722017
FR2016F3831H » EEHKIE
Z AR ROR N o 32K IH A 4E
gg ~ REFERBBEIOR Z1E
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33.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 33. BAEALHE@)
(b) During the year, the Group entered into the following (b) AEBRAEENHERENTFE
transactions with related companies: BRESWT :
2017 2016
Name of related company Notes Nature of transactions HK$ HK$
FELRZHE st ZHMHEE #IT # I
Cheng Cheng (i) Purchases 2,749,271 3,625,132
AL BE
EMAHBEYFEMTHRAS (ii) Sales supportive
(EmHEE) expenses 1,153,704 963,509
HEXEE
EFFE (iii) Technical service fees = 2,382,220
i fig PR %5 &
AREZ(TE )GRAS] (iv) Office rental expenses 557,993 -
MAEHEHE
Notes: BT

(ii)

(ii)

(iv)

The amount represents purchases of packaging and printing
products from Cheng Cheng, a fellow subsidiary of the
Company.

The amount represents sales supportive expenses payable
to EmFIsE, a non-controlling shareholder of Meng Sheng
Pharmaceutical, for the provision of sale-supportive and
consultancy services.

The amount represented fee paid to 2 &g F 5 for its provision
technical services during the application of the New GMP
Version certificate.

The amount represents the office rental expenses paid to &k X
(b El)H RS, a fellow subsidiary of the Company.

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

ZEEEMAM( ARIZEAR
MEBAS EESRERERERD
&M -

ZEREEEATERHER
EHEENFRBRRR INEEX
EH o DURHHEEERBBR
ﬁ% o

ZERRINTERTNAENE
A RER P FBHOMPhRE E
BRI RE R & o

ZEERINTARAEE(PH)
BRAS( XA ZRAKEB A
SR AEHES o
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33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(¢) During the current year, the Group paid certain
expenses incidental to a Group restructuring exercise of
RMB10,861,640 (equivalent to HK$12,751,397) which had
been fully reimbursed by Tianda Group.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel
The remunerations of Directors and other members

33. BAEANLTHE &)

() AFER AKEREEEAT
X fMHE THERIR/AR
#:10,861,6407C ( 37 512,751,397 %
T) ARRBEEARAREEE
BEA o

(d FEEEBASME
EFRHEFTEEEAER

of key management during the year are as follows: RERNZFHWT
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT & TT
Short-term benefits 2 #E A 5,905,259 3,392,774
Post-employment benefits B R 1&F 115,416 149,371
6,020,675 3,542,145

The remunerations of key management, including
Directors, were determined by reference to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

TEEHANE(BIEES)
ZHHTB2RBREARTERTISES
BEE o
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34. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 34, BEANAMBEREARZER
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the RREARBEARL S HHFARR
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: Tz ERBRE
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT AT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Plant and equipment B R 1,575,139 1,772,430
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B B/ S 518 249,297,301 194,757,548
Investments in subsidiaries N B AT ZEE 296,280,818 286,683,449
547,153,258 483,213,427
CURRENT ASSETS BB E
Deposits and other receivables e RAEERIRK 1,807,731 1,805,886
Bank deposits, bank balances and cash RITER RTEHRRES 221,681,338 314,076,955
223,489,069 315,882,841
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEMERE
Other payables HERBMRR 3,750,158 3,769,682
Amount due to a subsidiary T —RE KBNS B 7,451,919 7,528,040
11,202,077 11,297,722
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEERE 212,286,992 304,585,119
NET ASSETS BERE 759,440,250 787,798,546
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERRFEE
Share capital (note 24) B AN ( B 5E24 ) 215,063,588 215,063,588
Reserves (note) (BT 544,376,662 572,734,958
TOTAL EQUITY iz 759,440,250 787,798,546
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34.

140 BT

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

4., ARAAARMBRARZER @)

Note: BT
Capital Capital
Share redemption contribution Exchange Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BitGE EAEORE SAEREE EHEE REHEA by
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2015 R2015F4B18 257,839,900 8,000 105,239,603 597,049 104,774,344 468,458,896
Proft for the year REERF - - - - 35,021,808 35,021,808
Exchange difference arising on translation REEEZBEZE - - - (11,927,794) - (11,972,794)
Total comprehensive income FEELERE
(expense) for the year (%) 8% - - - (11,972,794) 35,021,808 23,049,014
Issue of shares upon subscription (note 24)  SREEESE{THAR ( MYEE4) 81,350,140 - - - - 81,350,140
Transaction costs attributable BARREGEZZMA
to issue of new shares (123,09) - - - - (123,09
At 31 March 2016 #2016FE3F318 339,066,948 8,000 105,239,603 (11,375,745) 139,796,152 572,734,958
Loss for the year FEERE - - - - (8,292,898) (8,292,898)
Exchange difference arising on translation ~ ABE4 7 EHEE - - - (14,258,681) - (14,258,681)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ~ AEE 2 EX B85 - - - (14,258,681) (8,292,898) (22,551,579)
Dividend recognised as distributions BRANRZEE - - - - (5,806,717) (5,806,717)
At 31 March 2017 ®201753R31A 339,066,948 8,000 105,239,603 (25,634,426) 125,696,537 544,376,662
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. FTEMBLAAZFHE
A.  Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 A, ARFETEWBRIN2017TER
March 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 20163831 = BWTF
Place of Issued and Proportion of Proportion
incorporation/ fully paid ordinary nominal value of issued of voting
registration share capitall ordinary share capitallregistered power held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital capital held by the Company by the Company  Principal activities
o REGL T ]
AL/ EERE/  FARFACEGEERE  AAAFE
HEAFER AR E%HH ifax HfE/EMERL b RERILE TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B 3

07016 2017 2016 2017 2016
% % % % % %

Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical®  PRC RMB36,000,000 - - 55 5 55 55 Research, development,
manufacture and sales
of pharmaceutical and
biotechnology products

FLE +4 Lt AR 36,000,000 BEEMER IR
A& RERHE

Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical British Virgin Islands/ Us§1 100 100 - - 100 100 Investment holding

Company Limited Hong Kong
RBGARER /TR S Refk
Tianda Pharmaceuticals PRC RMBY3,000,000 - -0 100 100 100 Research, development,
(Zhuhai)** (2016: manufacture and sales
RMB160,000,000) of pharmaceutical and
biotechnology products
RRBE(5%E )" HE AR 793,000,000 BEEMEG TR
(20165 : AR BERHE
AR 1600000007 )
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Australia AU$1,000,000 - - 100 100 100 100 Marketing, sales and distribution
(Australia) of healtheare products

RREE(RAAE) RAAE 1,000 0008 7T RRERZAH
HERNE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals (China)  PRC HK$50,000,000 - -0 100 100 100 Research and development

Ltd.* of pharmaceutical products

and provision of infra-group
consultation service marketing
sales and distributable of
healthcare products

AREZ(PE BERAS" 1E 50,000,005 1 BEERCHERAY
REEENTSARE
IR REESZ A
HERNH

Zhuhai Tianda Realty Ltd.* PRC RMB67,000,000 - - 100 - 100 - Property holding

KERAELERAT B AR 67,000,000 NERR

* * MEELERAMILZ AT o

Company established as foreign invested limited liability ** RAIB/NEBEREERIZA

company. EI

Company incorporated as cooperative enterprise.

%
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35.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

A. Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31

March 2017 and 2016 are as follows: (continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
a complete list of the particulars of all subsidiaries would
be of excessive length and therefore the above list contains
only those subsidiaries which principally affect the results

or assets and liabilities of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities at the end of the reporting period or at any time

during the year.

B. Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have

material non-controlling interest

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group that have material non-controlling

interest:

5. FEMBARZFHE @)

A

AN E) BN S 2017 K
20165E3B3M B S BWT (&)

KASEERRINEFRFE
MEAS zHFe<HMERS
MR #tk » EXRETIIERTE
HAREEENEEREERE

TEZHBAF

B 3 & B R 26 A T B
B KBNS BT R BT
F o
BHEEXRFERERZIFELEM
BRrRAZFE

TRITHEREERFEZER
REZAEBFEEENBASZ

B

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting rights
and principal held by non-controlling Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary  place of business interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AL A B 3z 3 B FEREDMFEGE SREFEREDZ
= FNC R4 REEEXME i B RELS it ERE 3 E
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
#T BT BT BT B BT
Meng Sheng PRC
Pharmaceutical 45% 45% 12,310,331 6,798,657 34,641,529 32,985,468
BhrEy hE

fHREEERERER
ZAREEWE RS < M E MR
ZHIWT o TXHMBERBE
EEBNMEHEI S o

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling interest
is set out below. The summarised financial information
below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 3B. FEMBLrRAZFHEH)
B. Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have B. #MAEEXRERERZIEELEMH
material non-controlling interest (continued) BARZFHBE &)
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical A
2017 2016
HK$ HK$
BT AT
Current assets mE & E 43,753,630 22,053,012
Non-current assets ERENEE 60,374,871 69,866,003
Total liabilities B EEE (28,766,709)  (21,097,009)
Net assets BEFE 75,361,792 70,822,006
Equity attributable to owners ARSI RREERER
of the Company 40,720,263 37,836,539
Non-controlling interests JEIR R & 34,641,529 32,985,468
Revenue 5PN 77,820,573 65,537,843
Expenses Xl (50,464,285)  (50,429,717)
Profit for the year REE w5 F 27,356,288 15,108,126
Profit attributable to owners of the A T) B R E G R
Company 15,045,957 8,309,469
Profit attributable to the non-controlling iR E(SRF
interests 12,310,331 6,798,657
Profit for the year R A 27,356,288 15,108,126
Other comprehensive expense attributable  7< /A 5] B% 3 & 14
to owners of the Company Ee2mxd (2,192,635) (2,292,968)
Other comprehensive expense attributable  JF 2 P& 4% 75 fE 1L
to the non-controlling interests EeemxH (2,018,821) (2,055,407)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEEHE2E X H (4,211,456) (4,348,375)
Total comprehensive income attributable ~ 7</A 5] fR 58 FE 15
to owners of the Company 2HU =5 12,853,322 6,016,501
Total comprehensive income attributable  JF 4% B% # %5 fE 1&
to the non-controlling interests 2HUEEEE 10,291,510 4,743,250
Total comprehensive income for the year 7 £F & & T U %5 4258 23,144,832 10,759,751
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating ~ K& EBHZ HE AN
activities (JRH )BER 34,077,222 (5,035,092)
Net cash inflow from investing activites — REEZSN IS MANFER 220,934 24,105
Net cash outflow from financing activities g2 & /&8 = I/ €75 HF%E (14,904,051) (62,261,881)
Net cash inflow (outflow) HERACRY VB8 19,394,105 (67,272,868)
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36. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

*

144

Pursuant to an acquisition agreement dated 12 June 2017,
Tianda Chinese Medicine Limited, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, will acquire 100% equity interest
of Zhuhai Renhong Medicine Co., Ltd.* (Zhuhai Renhong) at a
consideration of RMB5,141,394 (equivalent to HK$5,842,493).
The consideration shall be settled to 4= £ (Mr. Zhu Hongbing)
and Z&FE¥2 (Ms. Luo Baozhen), both are independent third
parties, who are the legal and beneficial owner of 78% and 22%,
respectively, of the registered capital of Zhuhai Renhong, within
30 working days after the completion of the transfer of the equity
interest and approved by relevant authorities in Zhuhai City and
Guangdong Province; and after the completion of changes in
registration of all licenses and certificates held by the Zhuhai
Renhong in accordance with the acquisition agreement. As at the
date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, the
transaction was not completed. Details of the acquisition are set
out in an announcement of the Company dated 12 June 2017.

For identification purpose only

36.

BEREEER

RIR B H A2017FE6 128 B9 I
EHE AN HE2EHB L
SIRRTEBEERAIZEUARE
5,141,394 7T ( #8 & 7#°5,842,4937% 7€ ) Uk
BIRESCRBEERAS(KELCE)
Z100% M A o BREAREBHNKA
HAEETHREREKETRERS
18 B B SR P F A DU AR IR U BE 1 %
TR C AR ENTNEREEE
REMBEIEERN BRRERE
BREEEL LT Xt - MABABILSE
=75 DRI ARSI 2 78% K 22% 5F it
BEAZEATEREREBAN  c RAKZS
BB HRTEOH ZBEBXIH AT
Ao BRAUKEESEIEE R B BiA2017466
B1R2BMKRATAENRN o

EHSE
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